
 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
 
Date Friday 24 September 2021 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the press and public 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2021  (Pages 3 - 14) 

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Number of Looked After Children - Verbal Update from Head of 
Children's Social Care   

6. Ofsted focused visit to Children's Services - Update from Head of 
Children's Social Care  (Pages 15 - 20) 

7. ADCS North East Submission to the Independent Review of 
Children's Social Care (for information)  (Pages 21 - 56) 

8. Investing in Children / Children in Care Council Update - 
Presentation by Project Officer, Investing in Children                 
(Pages 57 - 64) 

 a) Presentation  (Pages 65 - 70) 

9. Annual Performance Report - Supporting Solutions - Report of 
Strategic Manager, First Contact & Specialist Countywide Service  
(Pages 71 - 88) 

10. Fostering Service Annual Report 2020-21 - Report and 
Presentation by Strategic Manager Resources  (Pages 89 - 104) 

 a) Presentation  (Pages 105 - 112) 

11. Proud Moments - Verbal Update   

12. Regulation 44 Visits Update - Report of Project Manager, 
Children and Young People's Accommodation Sufficiency  
(Pages 113 - 120) 



13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

14. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
15. Regulation 44 Visits and Regulatory Body ratings of Children's 

Residential Homes - Report of Head of Children's Social Care 
and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children  
(Pages 121 - 126) 

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
16 September 2021 
 
 
To: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

 
 Councillor M Simmons (Chair) 

Councillor M Walton (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors  R Adcock-Forster, B Bainbridge, C Bell, J Charlton, 
B Coult, S Deinali, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, 
T Henderson, C Hood, C Hunt, J Miller, K Robson, K Rooney, 
A Surtees, S Townsend and C Varty 

 
 Co-opted Members  
 C Baines 
 A Ferguson 
 W Taylor 

Young persons representative of the Children in Care Council 
(CiCC) 

 Contact: Jill Hogg Tel: 03000 269 711 

 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in the Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Friday 2 July 2021 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor M Simmons in the Chair 

 

Panel Members: 

Councillors R Adcock-Forster, B Bainbridge, C Bell, J Charlton, S Deinali,  
J Griffiths, T Henderson, C Hood, C Hunt, J Miller, K Robson, K Rooney,  
A Surtees, S Townsend, C Varty and M Walton (Vice-Chair)  
 

Also Present: 

Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager  
Kelsey Clayton – Legal Services Manager  
Helen Fergusson - Head of Children’s Social Care 
Jodie Henderson – Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence 
Robert Johnson - Project Manager, Investing in Children 
Martyn Stenton – Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 
Melanie Stubbs – Head of the Virtual School  
Stephanie Pym - Participation and Engagement Officer, Children's Social Care  
Young Persons representative of the Children in Care Council - Lesley Caulkin 
Caitlyn Gray and Mitchell Green 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor B Coult,                           
Councillor O Gunn and co-opted members Alison Ferguson and Wendy 
Taylor. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor M Stead was in attendance for Councillor B Coult. 
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 April 2021 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

5 Introduction to the Corporate Parenting Panel  
 

The Head of Children's Social Care delivered a presentation which 
introduced the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel (for copy of 
presentation see file of minutes). 
 
Members received information on the governance arrangements, terms of 
reference and functions of the Panel, including the work with statutory 
agencies and the Panel’s oversight of the Virtual School and Aycliffe Secure 
Centre.  The Head of Children’s Social Care highlighted the Local 
Government Association’s key lines of enquiry for corporate parents, which 
inform the Panel’s programme of work. 
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care spoke of various key roles for members, 
with representation on panels and sub-groups including the Fostering Panel, 
Aycliffe Secure Centre, Aycliffe School, the Virtual School and the Regulation 
44 sub-group.  Members wishing to volunteer to fill positions were asked to 
register their interest through Julie Bradbrook, Partnerships Team Manager.  
 

5a Induction for Councillors: Being a Corporate Parent 
 
The Panel noted presentation slides which provided information for 
Councillors on being a corporate parent, illustrating the County’s profile of 
children in care, the qualities of a good corporate parent and details of how 
the Panel has responded to the views of children looked after and young 
people (for copy of presentation see file of minutes). 
 

6 Introduction to the Children in Care Council 
 
The Chair welcomed Robert Johnson, Project Manager from Investing in 
Children and Caitlyn, Lesley and Mitchell, representatives of the Children in 
Care Council. The Project Manager explained the Children in Care Council 
(CiCC), supported by Investing in Children, enables children and young 
people in care, including care leavers, to have their say in the way the care 
service is delivered.  The young people then presented an introduction to the 
Children in Care Council (for copy of presentation see file of minutes). 
  
The Panel heard that all children and young people who are looked after in 
County Durham automatically become members of the CiCC.  There are two 
separate groups, one for those under 14 years of age and a group for those 
aged 14 years and over.  Recent activity by the under 14s group includes 
work with the Virtual Head to produce a guide to Personal Education Plans 
which will assist the young people to gain a better understanding of the 
plans.  

Page 4



The young people are also involved in the development of a project using 
Pupil Premium funds, to allow young people to apply for funding for 
educational projects.  Work has also taken place with the Full Circle 
Therapeutic Service to co-design new therapy rooms. In addition, the young 
people are also busy producing the next edition of the Children in Care 
Council newsletter.   
 
Members of the over 14s group have been involved in foster care training 
and participated in interviews for social workers and senior staff.   
They have also worked on a pilot training session with the police and some 
of the young people have undertaken peer mentoring training, to help to 
develop the younger CiCC members.  Meetings have taken place with 
Independent Reviewing Officers and meetings with members of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel have continued throughout COVID-19.  The 
young people spoke of how they are keen to positively promote care and 
they have applied for funding for a care community celebration event to take 
place when the COVID-19 restrictions are fully lifted.  
 
The young people explained how the CiCC has developed its relationship 
with the Corporate Parenting Panel over the years through joint meetings 
which are held twice a year at the CiCC office.  These meetings are less 
formal than the Corporate Parenting Panel meetings and provide an 
opportunity for all of the young people who are part of the CiCC to discuss 
matters directly with Panel members.  
  
Representatives of the Children in Care Council also meet regularly with 
Durham County Council’s Chief Executive, John Hewitt, to discuss corporate 
parenting responsibilities and how the Council may increase opportunities for 
children and young people looked after and care leavers. 
 
Panel members were encouraged to consider participating in the Care 
Leavers’ Challenge which is held annually with participants ‘living life in the 
footsteps of a care leaver’ for a week, by managing on a budget of £57.90 ie 
the amount that care leavers not in employment receive.  This aims to raise 
awareness of the daily challenges faced by care leavers. Councillor 
Bainbridge commented that she had participated in the Care Leavers’ 
Challenge and she could attest to how challenging it had been, highlighting 
that it required skills that some young people may not have, such as the 
ability to cook healthy meals on a small budget.  
 
Lesley and Mitchell then outlined the qualities the young people of the CiCC 
consider important for good corporate parents, including the following: 
 

• ambition (the young people feel that corporate parents should strive for 
the very best for children and young people looked after and care 
leavers, just as all parents should do for their children); 

Page 5



• learning (about the full range of the service including the fostering 
service and the many support services provided); 

• listening (through engaging, asking questions and hearing the voice of 
the child, through sharing their experiences, ideas and concerns and 
by taking action); 

• be bold (the young people feel the Panel should be a ‘force to 
reckoned with’); 

• to advocate and uphold corporate responsibilities across the Council’s 
services;  

• to connect with the care community, challenge discrimination and 
promote opportunities locally for children and young people; 

• to celebrate the care community through supporting events. 
 
In concluding their presentation, Lesley and Mitchell asked the Panel 
members how they intend to be good Corporate Parenting Panel members.  
 
The Vice-Chair congratulated the young people on their excellently delivered 
and well-informed presentation. Members of the Panel echoed the 
sentiments, saying that the young people’s attendance at Panel meetings is 
very much appreciated and that by presenting their views in person, it sends 
a very powerful message to the Panel.  Members commented on how 
impressed they were at the way the young people presented themselves in 
what can be a daunting situation, even for experienced public speakers.  
 
In response to the question from the young people as to how members 
intend to become good corporate parents, members’ responses included the 
following: 
 

• to listen to the children and young people, to be led by their views and 
to work for them;  

• to ensure the young people are the driving force behind the work of the 
Panel; 

• to positively promote children and young people looked after within 
their wards and the wider community; 

• to do their best as corporate parents and to expect the children and 
young people to hold the Panel to account. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Surtees on how to contact the 
young people, the Project Manager explained that contact can be made 
through Investing in Children and through the Head of Children’s Social 
Care. The Head of Children’s Social Care informed members that they will 
have the opportunity to meet and interact with the young people more fully at 
the joint meetings which are hosted by the Children in Care Council.  
 
 

Page 6



In response to a question from the Panel as to what the young people find of 
most value from attending the Corporate Parenting Panel meetings, Mitchell 
responded that he has a particular interest in local politics, having stood as a 
candidate at the recent local elections and he added that scrutiny is an 
important aspect to ensure the best outcomes are achieved for looked after 
children and young people. 
 
Councillor Miller reiterated the comments on the importance of listening to 
the young people and he agreed with the young people’s comments that a 
community celebration would be a welcome event for all, to lift spirits, 
following the restrictions of COVID-19. 
 
The Chair thanked Rob, Lesley and Mitchell for their presentation and 
encouraged Panel Members not to miss the fantastic experience of the joint 
meetings with the young people of the Children in Care Council. Details of 
the meetings will be advised in due course. 
 

7 Mind of My Own  
 

The Panel received a presentation from the Participation and Engagement 
Officer for Children's Social Care, Stephanie Pym, together with young 
people Caitlyn and Lesley from the Children in Care Council on the Mind of 
My Own app (for copy of presentation see file of minutes). 
 
Members were informed that the Mind of My Own app is a digital 
communication tool for children and young people to share experiences and 
have their voices heard.  The app has been developed with young people 
and it recognises that all young people communicate their feelings in different 
ways.   
 
The young people demonstrated the two apps available, the ‘One App’ which 
is aimed at children and young people aged 8 years and over and can be 
used independently.  This app includes scenarios such as preparing for a 
child protection conference or a foster care review and it encourages the 
young person to consider issues they would like to discuss and to think about 
feelings and concerns that they may wish to share.  The app also allows the 
young person to reflect upon meetings that have taken place, to consider 
how to solve problems, plan ahead for the future and to think about their 
general wellbeing.   
 
The ‘Express App’ is for younger children and those young people with 
additional needs.  This app can be accessed with the support of a worker 
and uses images, sounds and emojis in order to help to communicate 
emotions.   
 

Page 7



The scenarios in this app encourage the young people to think about and 
share their feelings on their everyday lives and their education.  The app also 
includes a one-page profile which may be useful for those young people who 
are becoming acquainted with a new social worker.  
 
Designated workers are able to view the information that the young people 
provide. 
 
The young people commented on the advantages of the app saying it is fun, 
flexible and easy to access at any time, with the scenario on preparing for 
independent living being particularly useful. 
 
Some of the young people are ambassadors for Mind of My Own and they 
have designed a leaflet to provide information on the app and how social 
workers can help the young people to sign up for and get started with the 
app.  The presentation included information from one of the young 
ambassadors, William, who said the app helps him to talk about his feelings 
and emotions, for example, when he is feeling sad or nervous, he can share 
his feelings at that time, through the app.    
 
The Participation and Engagement Officer concluded the presentation by 
saying that Mind of My Own is designed to be an additional tool to capture 
the voice of the child and explained that information is gathered from the 
various engagements and statements, such as how the young people are 
feeling about their wellbeing and what aspects of their lives they feel positive 
about. 
 
The Chair thanked the Participation and Engagement Officer, Caitlyn and 
Lesley for their presentation. 
 
Highlighting the importance of young people’s mental health, Councillor Miller 
commented on the benefits of the app as an easily accessible way for young 
people to express their feelings confidentially and enquired whether young 
people without access to email could access the app.  The Participation and 
Engagement Officer explained that those without access to email can access 
the app via their worker’s account and new features are being developed to 
increase accessibility. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Deinali, the Participation and 
Engagement Officer explained the One App is available not only to those 
who are currently in care but all those who access the Children’s Social Care 
service.  
 
Councillor Charlton praised the young people who participated in the 
development of the app. 
 

Page 8



8 Overview of Children and Young People's Services  
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care delivered a presentation on the structure 
of the Children and Young People’s service including an overview of the 
support available to children and young people (for copy of presentation see 
file of minutes). 
 
The presentation included information on Aycliffe Secure Centre which caters 
for young people for whom a court has determined are required to be placed 
in secure accommodation.  The Centre has highly skilled staff and offers a 
range of specialist services including health services, therapeutic services 
and emotional and behavioural development.   
 
In response to a question from Councillor Surtees as to how the service 
provides for unaccompanied asylum seeking children, the Head of Children’s 
Social Care clarified that children seeking asylum who have no responsible 
adult to care for them are considered to be children ‘in need’ and are 
provided for by the Children Looked After and Permanence Team.  
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care demonstrated the ‘Circle of Support’ 
highlighting the many individuals and services which children and young 
people looked after will have contact with throughout their time in care, which 
emphasises the importance of developing strong relationships within the 
circle of support.  
 

9 Useful Resources  
 
The Panel received a report, for information, which outlined useful resources 
for corporate parents (for copy of report see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2020-21 
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care presented the Corporate Parenting 
Annual Report 2020 – March 2021, for agreement (for copy of report see file 
of minutes). 
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care highlighted that in November 2019, the 
Corporate Parenting Panel was shortlisted for the Local Government 
Chronicle Awards in the Children’s Services category which was a great 
achievement with a large number of entries being submitted.   
 

Page 9



This year, the COVID-19 pandemic had brought many new challenges, 
however, monthly virtual meetings took place between members of the 
Children and Care Council, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Panel and senior 
managers within Children’s Services to ensure regular contact was 
maintained.  
 
With the increased reliance on ‘virtual’ methods of contact, young people 
raised some concerns regarding the slow internet connections in some 
children’s residential homes.  The service responded quickly to ensure the 
internet connection in all homes is fit for purpose. 
 
Work has continued on the use of language in order to promote the use of 
child friendly language across the service, an initiative which was based on 
feedback from children and young people.   
 
The Panel noted work for the future includes the roll out of the care 
experienced Young Inspectors programme, for young people to be involved 
in the inspection of children’s residential care homes.  The service will also 
continue work to support young people to access training and work 
opportunities. 
 
Councillor Miller stressed the importance of increasing opportunities and 
apprenticeships for children looked after and suggested that all Committees 
should consider ways in which they could help to increase the local offer. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2020 – March 2021 be 
approved. 
 

11 Number of Children Looked After 
 

The Panel noted the number of looked after children within the County was 
939, a figure which has remained stable since the previous meeting in April.  
 

12 Ofsted Inspection: Aycliffe Secure Centre full inspection results 
 
The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children reported that at 
an Ofsted inspection in 2019, Aycliffe Secure Centre was judged 
outstanding.  An assurance visit took place in November 2020 and a full 
inspection, under the new framework, took place in spring 2021. The Head of 
Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children was pleased to report the 
Centre had retained its outstanding status, with only a small number of 
recommendations to take forward. 
  

Page 10



The Panel heard how the Centre staff had worked hard to respond to the 
pandemic and with COVID-19 secure working methods in place, the school 
had remained open throughout, to ensure the education of the young people 
was uninterrupted.  The inspection found that not only had business as usual 
been maintained but significant improvements had been made during the 
pandemic with staff ‘going the extra mile’ to improve aspects such as the 
young people’s sleep patterns.   
 
A new ‘transition home’ is planned to open in the summer to help young 
people who have resided at the Centre to integrate back into the community 
and a bid for DfE funding has been made to further support this project.   
 
The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children acknowledged 
that the retention of the outstanding status was testament to the huge efforts 
of the Centre’s team.  
 
Councillor Surtees placed on record her thanks to managers and staff and 
congratulated the Centre on this success, during such challenging times. 
 
The Chair echoed the comments and expressed how much she enjoys 
visiting the Centre and meeting the staff and young people, who make the 
most of the impressive facilities at the Centre.    
 
The Chair welcomed involvement from the new Panel members and 
encouraged new members to take the opportunity to visit the Centre in due 
course and to consider volunteering to represent the Panel on Aycliffe 
Centre’s sub-groups.   
   

13 Proud Moments  
 
Jodie Henderson, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence 
introduced the ‘proud moments’ item which promotes positive news about 
children looked after.  The Strategic Manager informed the Panel that 
feedback from young people suggested there was more work to be done to 
challenge stigma around being in care, therefore, the ‘proud moments’ item 
had become a standard item on the agenda for the Panel to share the best 
moments of the young people who are looked after.  The Strategic Manager 
highlighted that colleagues have a difficult task in selecting which proud 
moments to share, as there are often too many to choose from. 
 
This month’s item reported on a young person from one of the residential 
children’s homes who is a volunteer with a community allotment project and 
has worked hard to support the project’s activities and raise awareness of 
environmental issues. This has led to a commendation from the volunteer 
lead and the project is now supporting the young person to achieve the John 
Muir award for raising awareness of the natural environment.   

Page 11



 
Another proud moment came when a young person who had been finding life 
particularly difficult, with help and support from specialist services, overcame 
their difficulties and developed such empathy for other young people in a 
similar position, that they are now providing help and support to others 
through leading activities.  The Strategic Manager paid tribute to this young 
person’s fortitude, saying that it is experiences such as these that challenge 
and encourage the service to support young people to live their lives to the 
full and realise that they are valued and can make a contribution.    
 

14 Any other business  
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care informed the Panel that Ofsted 
inspectors will carry out a two-day focused visit on 13 and 14 July, looking at 
children in care who are vulnerable to exploitation.  The inspectors have 
specifically asked to meet with the Children in Care Council, during their visit.  
Feedback will be provided, with a letter identifying strengths and weaknesses 
expected to be published at the end of August. 
 

15 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely discussion of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

16 Regulation 44 visits and Regulatory Body Ratings of Children's 
Residential Homes  
 
The Panel considered a Joint Report of Head of Children's Social Care and 
Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children which provided a 
monthly update on Regulation 44 visits and regulatory body ratings (for copy 
of report see file of minutes). 
 
In response to observations from the Panel that a number of homes were 
shown in the report as ‘requiring improvement’, the Head of Children’s Social 
Care explained that when Ofsted recommend improvements, a monitoring 
visit takes place, after which a graded visit is carried out, with Ofsted 
providing a timescale for the required improvements to be completed. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation contained in the report be approved. 
 

Page 12



17 Any other business  
 
Councillor Henderson, newly appointed Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People introduced himself to the Panel and thanked the Head of 
Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable 
Children for their valuable assistance during his induction.  
 
Members were remined that those wishing to volunteer for positions on the 
various sub-groups were asked to contact Julie Bradbrook, Partnerships 
Team Manager. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

23 August 2021 

John Pearce 

Corporate Director, Children and Young People’s Service 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UJ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear John 

 

 

Focused visit to Durham’s children’s services 

 

Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills is leading 

Ofsted’s work into how England’s social care system has delivered child-centred 

practice and care within the context of the restrictions placed on society during the 

COVID-19 (coronavirus) pandemic. 

 

This letter summarises the findings of a focused visit to Durham children’s services 

on 13 and 14 July. Her Majesty’s Inspectors for this visit were Louise Hollick and 

Vicky Metheringham. 

 

Inspectors looked at the local authority’s arrangements for children in care. The visit 

focused on the quality of matching, placement and decision-making for children in 

care, the protection of vulnerable adolescents in care and the experiences and 

progress of children living in unregulated and/or unregistered provision. 

This visit was carried out in line with the inspection of local authority children's 

services (ILACS) framework. However, the delivery model was adapted to reflect the 

COVID-19 context. The lead inspector and the director of children’s services agreed 

arrangements to deliver this visit effectively while working within national and local 

guidelines for responding to COVID-19. This visit was carried out fully by remote 

means. Inspectors used video calls for discussions with local authority staff, 

managers and leaders. 

  

Headline Findings 

 

The number of children in care in Durham has risen during COVID-19. Performance 

and quality of practice are strong for most of these children. Most children in care 

are receiving effective services and support from an assured and committed 

workforce. There are a small number of children in care living in unregulated or 

Ofsted  
Piccadilly Gate  
Store Street 
Manchester 
M1 2WD 

 

T 0300 123 1231 
Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 

 

2 

 

unregistered care arrangements. While leaders have plans in place to resolve these 

issues, these arrangements do not provide adequate assurances of the quality of 

care provided to children currently. 

 

Areas for priority action:  

The local authority needs to take swift and decisive action to address the following 

areas of weakness: 

◼ The quality of plans and arrangements for a minority of children in the care of the 
local authority living with connected persons 

◼ The sufficiency of suitable placements to avoid children being placed in 
unregistered accommodation. 

 

Areas for improvement: 

◼ The quality of assessment work carried out under Section 22 (a) to determine 
that unregulated supported accommodation is the most suitable placement for 
some children aged 16-17. 
 

Main Findings 

 

There have been relatively high rates of COVID-19 infection in Durham and at the 

time of the visit, the rate was amongst the highest nationally. This is leading to 

increased rates of staff sickness and staff having to self-isolate. Staff are working 

within organised bubbles and have choice around access to office facilities as well as 

being supported to work from home. This is enabling them to seek manager and 

peer support in a comfortable and safe way. Leaders are focused on maintaining 

business as usual while working within the national guidelines and restrictions. This 

is ensuring that most children continue to receive face-to-face visits from their social 

worker and plans are progressing without any COVID-19 related delay or disruption.  

 

Social workers are positive about working for Durham. They report good 

management support and supervision which enables them to discuss issues and 

make appropriate decisions for children. A strong workforce development strategy 

has ensured workforce stability. This is helping workers to consistently support 

children and they have developed positive and informed relationships.  

 

Leaders acknowledge that placement sufficiency is a challenge in Durham and has 

been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. There are plans in place to increase 

sufficiency through the opening of additional children’s homes and foster carer 

recruitment. In the meantime, a small number of children have been placed in 

unregistered children’s homes, some for a considerable length of time. These 

Page 16



 

 

 

3 

 

children have complex care needs, which means a registered placement has not 

been able to be found for them. While leaders have oversight of these arrangements 

and have plans to register these homes with Ofsted, children are living in these 

circumstances for too long. The lack of registration means that the care afforded to 

children in these arrangements does not necessarily meet the children’s home 

regulations and quality standards, and the ability of the carers to meet children’s 

needs and identify risks is unassessed. This also means that children are living in 

uncertain situations for too long without an agreed permanent care plan.  

 

A small number of children are placed with family or friends who have either refused 

to have a viability assessment, or for who the assessment outcome has been 

negative. These children are placed under a variety of legal arrangements, including 

voluntary agreement, Interim Care Orders and Care Orders, with carers who are 

unapproved, meaning that these placements are outside the safeguards provided by 

regulation. For these children, the carer's ability to meet their needs is undetermined 

due to the lack of assessment as required under regulation. It also means that some 

of these children are not being secured timely and permanent care arrangements. 

 

Leaders are aware of this group of children and could demonstrate that these 

children are all being seen regularly by social workers. Despite managers’ assertions 

that these children were all safely cared for, not all of these children had up-to-date 

assessments or a clear plan to progress their legal arrangements and circumstances. 

During the visit, managers provided a summary of existing plans to address this 

situation and the management oversight. Leaders acknowledge that some children 

remain in these unregulated situations for too long and not enough action has been 

taken to ensure these children have permanent and secure legal arrangements. This 

impacts on children's stability, identity and legal rights. It may also affect their 

access to the appropriate care leaver support and entitlements when they leave care. 

 

Children come into care when they cannot safely remain at home. When children 

come into care in an unplanned emergency way, there is prompt management 

oversight and decision-making. Care proceedings are issued promptly, when 

required. During care proceedings, a variety of robust assessments inform strong 

decision-making for children. This is helping children achieve permanence in a timely 

way when they cannot safely return home.  

 

When children are placed in approved foster placements or registered children’s 

homes, there is clear identification of children’s needs and appropriate matching is 

well considered. For these children, there is strong management oversight and 

decision-making is robust. Children’s records provide clear direction of next steps to 

support timely and robust care planning. 

 

Consideration is given for children to stay with family members when this is 

appropriate. Most of these arrangements are appropriately managed and assessed, 

including viability assessment and emergency agreement for temporary approvals. 

Page 17



 

 

 

4 

 

When children are placed with extended family with parents’ consent, there is 

balanced consideration of whether children are living under a family arrangement or 

whether they have become children in care who are placed with their extended 

family. Parents’ rights under this arrangement are clearly discussed with them, so 

they can make an informed decision about their children coming into care and know 

their rights to remove their children. Parents are encouraged to consult a solicitor, so 

they are independently advised and empowered. 

 

Most children in care are making good progress. Their assessed needs are 

understood and addressed by high-quality care plans. Children have access to a wide 

range of specialised support such as the Full Circle therapeutic team and the 

Supporting Solutions intensive support team. Care plans are reviewed through timely 

review meetings. Children and their parents participate in care plans and their 

reviews when it is appropriate for them to do so. Children’s plans contain clear 

actions and timescales and are written in plain language so children and families can 

understand the expectations. 

 

Children have been able to maintain links with their families despite the COVID-19 

government restrictions. Children's views are taken into account when considering 

family time arrangements. When children do not want to see their birth parents, 

their wishes are thoughtfully considered. This helps children feel safe and supported 

when they have complex family relationships.  

 

When children have to move placement, sensitive conversations are held with the 

children to help them prepare for the moves and, when possible, introductions are 

made in advance of the move. This means that children feel prepared prior to 

moving to new carers. Not all children who have to move have updated needs 

assessments to ensure children and carers are considerately matched, with the aim 

of reducing further placement breakdowns. 

 

Children in care are visited where they live and are seen alone. The majority of visits 

are now face to face, even when children live a considerable distance away from 

their home authority. Most children benefit from sensitive and creative direct work 

completed with their social workers or support workers. For children with language 

or communication needs, direct work is completed to an exceptional standard using 

sensory tools, or interpreters to aid communication. Action is taken to make changes 

to care plans as a result of this direct work, enabling children to feel fully listened to 

and building trust in their relationship with their social worker. For those children 

who cannot return home to their parents, life story work helps them to understand 

their family history. 

 

When children in care are at risk of criminal or sexual exploitation or are missing, 

there is a prompt response to identify, review and reduce risk. Multi-agency 

meetings ensure good information-sharing for children’s risk assessments and clear 

action plans for crucial times such as weekends. This is helping to reduce risks to 

Page 18



 

 

 

5 

 

children and improve their circumstances. There has been a rise in the numbers of 

children in care going missing, partly due to the repeated national lockdowns and the 

restrictions this forces on adolescents. As a result, an additional missing from home 

coordinator post has been created. Return home interviews for children are of a 

good standard and even when young people do not engage in the meeting, the 

coordinators gather information by communicating with a range of relevant 

professionals. This helps to inform the plan and reduce risk. 

 

Some 16- and 17-year-olds in Durham are placed in unregulated supported 

accommodation. These children are monitored and reviewed by senior managers in 

the performance clinic and a supported accommodation panel. For some children, 

this is supported by assessment under a pathway plan. Formal assessments of the 

suitability of the accommodation are not routinely completed for these children. This 

makes it difficult to ascertain if children’s needs are informing their plans to live in 

this type of accommodation and whether the accommodation is of a high-quality 

standard.  

 

During the visit, inspectors met with a group of children from the children in care 

council. These children spoke positively about their social worker and feel listened to 

and supported by them. Inspectors were impressed to hear about their individual 

achievements and their promotional activities with key corporate partners. This is 

ensuring they have opportunities to share their experiences of being in care.  

 

There is frequent senior and operational management oversight of children in care 

through various panels, performance clinics, supervision and day-to-day recorded 

management decisions. Management oversight across the service has been 

increased and strengthened when gaps have been identified. There is wider strategic 

backing from the corporate parenting panel, who have a keen focus on listening to 

the views of children in care and young people leaving care. 

Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when planning your 

next inspection or visit. 

We have notified the DfE of the area(s) for priority action. You should submit an 

action plan that responds to the area for priority action within 70 working days of 

receiving this letter. It would be very helpful if you can share an early draft of the 

action plan with us within 20 working days of receiving this letter. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Louise Hollick 

Her Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



North East Submission to 
the Independent Review of 
Children’s Social Care

2021

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Contents

Introduction      3

Executive summary      5

About the North East       7

Children’s services in the North East      9

Key themes    11

Early help A model for early help 
Schools at the heart of  communities 
The role of  health services in early help 
A better youth offer 

Partnerships and integration A duty to collaborate
Health priorities
The role of  schools
Collaboration with the police

Children’s workforce Family support at the front line
Care roles
Wider workforce
Social work

Care markets  The ‘market’
The North East picture
Fostering provision
Commissioning

Ofsted regulatory framework Approach to regulation
Who and what to regulate
Unregulated care

Court system and family justice Better collaboration
Support for realistic parenting

All recommendations 28

The 12 directors of North East Children’s Services 34

      02
Page 22



Introduction

The North East is a beautiful and interesting place with many strengths 
as well as challenges. 

The North East is a beautiful and interesting place with many strengths as well as challenges. 

Because of  our history and circumstances, we are often first to feel the impact of  economic and 
social change, no more so than with the impact of  the Covid pandemic, which is now exacerbating the 
challenges of  day-to-day life for many people in our communities.

Exceptional levels of  poverty in the North East are driving dramatic rises in child protection intervention 
and the number of  children in care. The cost of  this cannot be afforded. Exacerbated by reductions in 
government funding, spending on early help has reduced at a time when it has been most needed. This 
vicious cycle can only be broken by different ways of  working, backed up by adequate investment.

This report sets out how we, the 12 directors of  children’s services in the North East, think the current 
system needs to be changed to make it work better. We recognise the overall findings of  the Case for 
Change report. But our view is that it is not so much that the system is broken, it is more that the way 
in which it’s being used, and the strain on relationships across the system, nearly break it. The 1989 
Children Act remains a sound basis for what we need going forward, but we need to re-capture the 
spirit of  that Act and to reclaim its central tenet, to support children and families in local communities.

Our contribution to this review is driven by our passion and is rooted in our deep experience of  making 
complicated systems work. We have focused on the issues that are most important for us, in the 
knowledge that this will resonate with many other parts of  the country, particularly outside of  London 
and the South East.

Our report does not elaborate where the need for change is already well made, such as in children’s 
mental health; or reiterate views which have already been better articulated by others, such as by those 
with experience in the sector1. We have been selective in the issues we address, driven by the things 
which we feel can make the biggest difference.

We take inspiration from the proud history of  the North East in getting the people’s voice heard by 
government and hope to continue that tradition through this contribution.

Our passionate sense of  shared purpose and strong collaboration can bring about a radical change 
in ways of  working. We hope our region can be instrumental in further developing these ideas and 
building a better future for our children.

It is good to stand together and make a change.
North East Regional Children in Care Council member

      03
Page 23



Because of our history
and circumstances,
the North East is often
first to feel the impact
of social change, no
more so than with the
impact of the Covid
pandemic, which is
now exacerbating the
challenges of day-to-day
life for many people in
our local communities.

      04
Page 24



Executive summary

The numbers of children needing intensive support, including those in care, 
are not sustainable in the North East or nationally. More importantly, the 
current arrangements do not serve families well and do not lead to the 
best outcomes for children. There is a clear imperative for change.

Levels of  poverty in the North East are driving continuing rises in child protection intervention and 
the number of  children in care. Spending on early help has reduced at a time when it has been most 
needed. This vicious cycle can only be broken by different ways of  working, backed by adequate 
investment.

National measures to reduce poverty, focused on raising family incomes, are needed to break the cycle 
of  deprivation which is driving concerns about child welfare.  Alongside this, local authorities need 
adequate funding to provide early help for families in communities. These two significant contextual 
factors should be addressed by the independent review of  children’s social care.

Post pandemic it is vital that social regeneration and economic regeneration are both placed at the 
heart of  rebuilding communities. The ‘levelling up’ agenda must focus upon building family resilience 
and social capital in communities, to enable self-sufficiency and mutual aid.

Directors of  children’s services want to see a paradigm shift away from an interventionist, binary (in 
care or out of  care, child protection or not child protection) system, towards one with emphasis on 
community and collaboration with families. A continuum of  support to enable professionals to stand 
alongside parents and help them through difficulties is needed, with child protection, in its widest 
sense, integral to the offer.

This requires capacity across professional networks to ‘hold’ risk in families where children’s needs are 
not being met, together with realignment of  policy at national level and the targeting of  resources from 
all public agencies towards this end. A long-term cross government strategy for early help for families 
must be developed with cross-systems incentives for collaboration, including pooled budgets.

It is essential that we develop a more diverse and better skilled children’s workforce across the 
spectrum of  social care roles including family support, youth work and residential and family care. 
New flexible and hybrid specialist roles can bring together knowledge and skills across professional 
boundaries to support cross-agency working.  Oversight of  workforce sufficiency and regional support 
to drive wider workforce development is needed.

Children’s social work must be better promoted, and a coherent post qualification framework should be 
developed with local authorities and teaching partnerships. This would improve practice, retain staff  at 
the front line and improve professional status.

A radical rethink is needed of  arrangements to provide safe and loving homes for children who cannot 
live with their birth family. The dysfunctional ‘market’ for children’s residential care must be dismantled 
or radically overhauled and profit-making eliminated or capped. Capacity to actively manage regional 
markets and improve commissioning is a priority. Government must invest in more local provision. 

      05
Page 25



We need more fluid models of  care, where responsibility for looking after children can flex according 
to changing child and family circumstances, with long-term partnerships with parents enabling them 
to maintain an active role in their child’s life. A proportionate regulatory framework needs to adapt to 
this more fluid way of  working and support better supply and diversity of  residential and foster homes. 
The legal frameworks and expectations of  Ofsted, Cafcass and the courts need to adapt, with a more 
collaborative and flexible approach. 

With the right support, we can build on the sense of community created during the pandemic, to create new 
relationships with families that can empower them and strengthen their capacity to thrive and to confidently 
parent future generations.

Two “asks” of the Independent Care Review 

  The Care Review must press Government to develop an ambitious, cross-departmental strategy to 
reduce and then end child poverty as part of  its levelling up agenda.

  The Care Review must also recognise the impact of  reductions in local authority funding and press 
for significant investment to reverse the loss of  early help capacity in local areas.

Six headline recommendations

  A paradigm shift is needed, away from an interventionist, binary system  to one of  partnership with 
families in local communities. A long-term cross government strategy for early help and prevention is 
needed, which puts investment in people and social regeneration alongside economic regeneration 
at the heart of  the levelling up agenda. Cross-system investment is needed to back this up.  

  There should be a statutory duty for local authorities, the police, health and schools to collaborate 
to meet the early help needs of  children and families in their local area, overseen by regulation 
which holds organisations to account for the quality of  their partnership working. A national cross 
government policy directive on integrated working needs to underpin better partnership working, 
with funding channelled through partner agencies or pooled arrangements, like the Better Care Fund 
model in adult social care.

  A more diverse and better skilled children’s social care workforce is essential to underpin new 
practice. Regional Improvement and Innovation Alliances should be funded to enable training and 
development and to oversee sufficiency. 

  The children’s care provider market should be dismantled or radically overhauled. Profit making from 
children’s residential and foster care must be eliminated or capped. If  a mixed economy of  provision 
remains, a national approach is needed to the management of  the market, which must address 
sufficiency and develop a fair price for care with national terms. Government must invest to create 
new capacity.

  Young people’s needs must be a clearer driver for regulation. A review of  the children’s regulatory 
system is needed in the light of  more flexible working with families and to encourage both better 
supply and diversity of  care settings for children.

  Better arrangements for collaboration across the courts system are needed, which do not 
compromise the independence of  the courts or guardians but give better oversight of  how the 
system is working to create greater consistency and lead cultural change. The Public Law Working 
Group has made progress, but a wider, more fundamental cross-system review is needed.

      06
Page 26



About the North East

The North East is home to over 2.6 million people and 12 local 
authorities. It is a compact area; you can drive from one end of the 
region to the other in a little over two hours. But the local authorities 
vary greatly with small unitary authorities, two large counties, 
substantial cities and coastal towns. 

The North East is not as ethnically diverse as other English regions with 93.6% of  the population being 
White British (2011 census data). The region has the lowest proportion of  any English region of  children 
(both primary and secondary age) who have a first language other than English.”2

There are geographical boundaries which create a separation from Cumbria, North Yorkshire and 
Scotland making the region feel more self-contained and distinct. Known for its industrial history and 
capacity for invention and innovation, this is an area with a strong sense of  regional identity and pride 
and a shared sense of  ‘place’. Family networks are strong and local community is valued. 

However, the region continues to face significant challenges stemming from deindustrialisation and 
deep-rooted socio-economic disparities within the UK. Compared to other English regions the North 
East has the lowest life expectancy at birth, higher levels of  economic inactivity and the lowest gross 
weekly pay.3 Children and young people in the North East experience poorer health outcomes across a 
range of  indicators, compared to other regions4.

With deprivation being the main single driver of  demand for services5 understanding the socio-
economic context in which children’s social care services are delivered in the North East is 
fundamental. Families in the region are affected by longstanding and significant levels of  inequality 
and disadvantage, with the North East consistently having the highest proportion of  school-age pupils 
eligible for free school meals6, the highest proportion of  children living in low income and material 
deprivation7 and the highest proportion of  children living in families with no or little savings to shield 
them from economic shocks8.

Even before the Covid pandemic, after a decade of  austerity, the picture in the region was deteriorating 
markedly, with the steepest increase in relative child poverty (after housing costs) between 2014/15 and 
2019/20 - rising from 26% to 37%. This is compared with a UK-wide increase from 29% to 31% and means 
that the North East has gone from having a child poverty rate just below the UK average to the second 
highest of  any region or nation in just five years. Of  the 20 local authority areas across the UK which 
saw the sharpest increases in child poverty from 2014/15 to 2019/20, North East councils account for 12 
places. Hirsch and Stone suggest the growth in child poverty in the North East is “likely to be influenced in 
particular by the presence in the region of  a large proportion of  low-paid workers who had only been just 
above the poverty line, and were pushed below by the freeze in their in-work benefits.”9

Poverty is stark, shameful and obvious. Life chances are blighted. I’ve worked in a number 
of local authorities all over the country, but I’ve never worked anywhere
where poverty is as bad and life chances so poor.
North East Director of Children’s Services

      07
Page 27



Poverty is stark, 
shameful and obvious. 
Life chances are 
blighted. I’ve worked 
for a number of local 
authorities all over the 
country, but I’ve never 
worked anywhere where 
poverty is as bad and life 
chances so poor.

North East local authorities are not unique in feeling the impact of  funding cuts and cost pressures 
over the last decade.  In 2018 the National Audit Office (NAO) reported Government funding for 
local authorities had fallen by an estimated 49.1% in real terms from 2010-11 to 2017-1810. The Local 
Government Association estimated that by 2020 local government in England would have lost 75p 
out of  every £1 of  the government revenue support grant that it had to spend in 201511, with councils 
facing a £3.1 billion funding gap for children’s services by 202512. 

Funding cuts have had a greater impact in the most deprived areas of  the country, including the 
North East, due to disproportionately higher cuts and the impact on spending power. In 2018, 
the NAO published figures for the change in real terms spending power from 2010 to 2017/18 for 
individual councils and regions, which show that, while the average reduction in spending power 
was -28.6%, the reduction in the North East was disproportionately higher at -33.6% and the 
reduction in the South East was -22.2%.13 This gap has further widened in the last two years.

Some sub regional shared approaches to tackling the impacts of  deprivation, through the combined 
authorities and other arrangements, build upon the strengths of  local identity, harnessing community 
resourcefulness to drive regeneration. The shared sense of  “place” is key. But there is much more to 
be done if  social wellbeing as well as economic prosperity are to be restored.

      08
Page 28



Children’s Services in the 
North East

Directors of  children’s services are in no doubt that the challenges 
for the social care system are significant and the North East often 
finds itself  in the spotlight, most recently following the publication 
of  the Nuffield Family Justice Observatory report on new born 
babies in urgent care proceedings.14

The gravity of  the situation is undeniable. The North East has the highest rate of  referrals to children’s 
social care of  any region, significantly higher than the national average.  The region now consistently 
has the highest rate per 10,000 population of  statutory involvement of  the English regions, including 
the highest rates of  Looked After Children (LAC), Child Protection Plans and Children in Need (all 
open referrals).  The rate of  Children in Care in the North East increased at a greater rate than in any 
other region between 2019 and 2020, with every local authority having a rate that is above the national 
average.15

A gap between the North East and other regions has emerged in recent years and is seen most starkly 
in relation to rates of  children in care. Since 2009 the North East has seen a 77% increase in its care 
population. Inner London has seen a 25% reduction over the same period.16 However, with the exception 
of  London, the North East trends in service demand are replicated across other regions, just not at the 
same scale or pace.  Colleagues in regions such as the North West and West Midlands, which share 
many of  the underlying contextual challenges, are grappling with the same issues.

It is undoubtedly the case that in some authorities in the North East there are more children in care 
than anyone would want to see. Historically there has been disruption created by a loss of  professional 
confidence surrounding adverse inspections, which has led to risk averse practice in some places. But 
there are positive signs from more recent inspections which point to good practice in areas already 
recognised as strong and continuing improvement in those where it is required. Overall, the region has 
strong capacity to improve and some excellent examples of  practice innovation.

I’m not doing well ‘for being in care’, I’m doing well because I’m in care.
North East Regional Children in Care Council member

It is clear that attributing high numbers of  children in care solely to historical practice is too simple 
and ignores the complex system-wide factors underpinning this data. North East authorities judged 
outstanding and good all have above average levels of  activity across the system. Something more 
complex is going on in the North East, as well as elsewhere in the country, which is driving this upward 
trend.

There is strong and growing evidence that deprivation is a significant driver of  demand for children’s 
social care services17 and North East directors of  children’s services believe this is a critical part of  the 
region’s story. 

      09
Page 29



There is a gradient in the relationship between family socio-economic circumstances and rates of  
CAN [child abuse and neglect] across the whole of  society …. The greater the economic hardship, 
the greater the likelihood and severity of  CAN.18

The latest ADCS Safeguarding Pressures report notes that the reasons why children and families 
require support have changed little but have become more pronounced. 

More children are living in families where there is reduced parenting capacity through domestic 
abuse, mental ill health or substance misuse. The impact of  deprivation and housing issues is putting 
more families in acute stress and financial difficulties. More children are experiencing mental ill 
health, are vulnerable to exploitation, and are demonstrating complex behavioural issues, often in 
adolescence.19

Social care assessments provide some insight into the drivers of  demand. Mental health was found 
to be a factor in 39% of  North East single assessments in 2019/20 (compared with 30% nationally). 
Domestic abuse was also a factor in 39% of  assessments in the North East (compared to 32% 
nationally). Drug misuse (seen in 20% of  North East assessments, 14% in England) and alcohol misuse 
(seen in 18% of  North East assessments, 14% in England) were also significant factors. In 2019/20 
children were much more likely to become looked after due to abuse and neglect in the North East 
(73%) than in England as a whole (61%), and this has been the case for a number of  years.20

These factors, picked up at the point of  referral, reflect wider societal issues. For example, the North 
East has a significantly higher rate (35 per 1,000 population) of  police recorded domestic abuse-related 
incidents and crimes than the average for England and Wales (23 per 1,000 population). Durham 
Constabulary tops the table (50 per 1,000 population) and our other two police forces are in the top 
seven in England and Wales.21  

Increased demand has inevitably impacted on expenditure. In the three years to 2019/20 North East 
councils have seen an increase in net expenditure in children’s social care services of  over £77 million 
(18.2%).  Net expenditure on children looked after and safeguarding services increased by almost £83 
million (27%). 

The North East is in a vicious cycle with levels of  demand causing pressure across the system and 
spiralling costs. With a larger proportion of  the budget being spent on statutory services, there is a 
squeeze on spending compromising the ability to provide the prevention and early help needed to 
manage risk outside the statutory system and reduce children coming into care.22

A whole system approach is required to break this cycle, which is felt most sharply in the North East but 
is replicated across the country, particularly in areas of  high deprivation where demand is greatest.  

Our vision is for a responsive and flexible system of  care, where relationships are maintained and 
strengthened, and children and families get support as early as possible and for as long as they need 
it.  We want to see a social care system characterised by the freedom to think and work innovatively, a 
skilled and valued workforce, collaboration across boundaries and services and a regulatory system 
that enables the bespoke care that children need.  Children, young people and families should see care 
as a positive experience that supports them to thrive.

Directors of  children’s services in the North East have identified the key areas in which change is 
needed. These changes would ensure a better approach and a different pattern of  support and 
care. And over time they would also enable resources to be balanced differently across the system 
making work to support children and families more sustainable. What we ask of  the review, and the 
recommendations we present, can help construct these new ways of  working for the future.

      10
Page 30



Key themes

The North East is home to over 2.6 million people and 12 local 
authorities. It is a compact area; you can drive from one end of  
the region to the other in a little over two hours. 

But the local authorities vary greatly with small unitary authorities, two large counties, substantial cities 
and coastal towns. 

The following sections explore the six key themes identified by directors of  children’s services in the 
North East as presenting the most challenges and therefore offering the most opportunity to improve 
support and care for children and families. Recommendations are set out for each of  the themes: early 
help, partnerships and collaboration, children’s workforce, care markets, Ofsted regulatory framework 
and court system and family justice. 

Early Help

Summary

If  families can be helped earlier, savings can be made and more importantly, unnecessary harm can 
be avoided. A paradigm shift is needed to replace an interventionist, binary  system with a graduated 
continuum of  early help, from universal support to targeted help for children at risk. Child protection in 
its widest sense must run through the offer. More needs to be done to support youth. A long-term cross 
government strategy for early help for families, which recognises the impact of  poverty and deprivation, 
is needed together with realignment of  policy at national level and targeting of  resources through all 
public agencies towards this end. This should be central to post Covid levelling up.

Key challenges and proposals

In many parts of  the North East, pressure on spending for preventive services has left a relatively small 
core offer, largely funded by the Troubled Families (now Supporting Families) Programme. In some 
places, there has been protection of  early help at the expense of  other council services, but overall 
capacity is poor and often fragmented. As we move out of  the pandemic there is an imperative for 
social regeneration to be at the heart of  rebuilding communities. The levelling up agenda must focus 
upon building family resilience and social capital in communities, to enable self-sufficiency and mutual 
aid.

Selective short-term grant funding of  services by government makes long-term innovation and planning 
difficult. And some opportunities are only available to selected areas, for example, the Strengthening 
Families programme, which is showing good impacts in four areas in the North East. Too often this 
means that authorities that are already doing well and have the capacity to write funding bids, are 
winning the extra funding and competing with each other in the process. This is creating a pattern of  
small-scale piecemeal services. A comprehensive approach to implementing and rolling out good 
practice is needed which is available to all local authorities.

.

      11
Page 31



As cited in the recent National Children’s Bureau23 report there is a growing body of evidence from 
Webb and others indicating that sustained investment in early help and preventative services is effective 
in reducing rates of children in care and keeping children safe in their families. A cross-government 
programme of investment through the police, health, schools and councils should identify specific 
pooled funding to support families and children in local communities.  

A model for early help

Directors want to move away from the current interventionist, binary system, towards community 
and professional partnership in collaboration with families. Earlier help will make savings, but more 
importantly avoid damaging children’s lives by unnecessary intervention. A graduated continuum of 
help is needed, from universal support though to targeted help for children at risk.

Better universal, non-stigmatising support for all families at a local level needs to be the foundation of 
this offer. Such support can pick up problems early, for example helping parental mental wellbeing, 
promoting positive parenting and being a source of the advice most parents need. Access to such help 
can prevent problems escalating. 

Easy access to targeted help for families facing particular challenges is needed, such as those 
caring for a child with a disability or dealing with challenging child behaviour. With the right help 
young children can be supported safely with their families and where relationships have broken down, 
teenagers can be helped to stay living at home, avoiding the need for care. This type of help needs to 
be available for as long as it is needed. The need for repeated or long-term help should not be regarded 
as a failure if it gives the best outcomes for children. Sometimes families might require support from 
generation to generation. The workforce implications of stronger partnership working, which ‘hold’ risk 
where children’s needs are not being met, are discussed in the workforce section of this report.

The view that good intervention leads to problems ‘going away’ is pervasive. The reality is that 
some families have a myriad of complex problems which cannot easily be resolved by social 
work intervention.
North East Director of Children’s Services

You’re the only professional I’ve ever felt comfortable to open up to and I think that’s why me and 
the children have made such good progress this time.
North East parent with a history of statutory social care involvement to an early help worker

Intense support at times of crisis or on the “edge of care” can help to avoid unnecessary admission 
to care and promote reunification. A range of flexible models is needed, including shared care 
and in some cases long-term help. Work using the ‘no wrong door’ approach in the North East has 
demonstrated the value of this type of support, which can also reduce the need for care.

But most importantly this range of early help support must be flexible and the notion of child protection 
in its widest sense must run through the offer. Instances will arise from any part of these arrangements 
where a child is in danger or at risk, so the need to intervene to protect a child must remain an intimate 
part of the overall approach.

Family lives have peaks and troughs and the situation can move from early help to safeguarding 
and back again. It’s the nature of what we do. Families bouncing in and out of different systems 
is the worst possible experience for them.
North East Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care

      12
Page 32



Families do not switch from presenting a risk one day and not the next. And providing help to change 
behaviours and manage risks is not the sole province of  specialist child protection interventions, it runs 
as a thread throughout all work with children.

Shared investment will be needed to stimulate a change in the balance of  spending across the system. 
National funding should be channelled through partner agencies or though pooled arrangements 
like the Better Care Fund model in adult social care. Making this investment will, over time, release 
resources currently tied up in various forms of  expensive ‘late intervention’ services. A better-balanced 
system where fewer children need to be in care is more sustainable. 

Schools at the heart of communities

Schools and colleges have a central role to play and schools know, and are trusted by, children and 
families. As we saw during the pandemic, they can be at the heart of  communities delivering multi-
agency responses via the school’s front door. Engagement in education is a protective factor for 
children.  Early evidence from placing social workers in schools in the North East points to reducing 
demand in social work teams. 

In 24 years of teaching, having a social worker in school is the best thing we’ve ever done.
North East secondary headteacher

Explicit government direction is needed to make early help a part of  core business for all schools, who 
are important partners in carrying system responsibility for children. There is so much more that schools 
could potentially do if  funding was targeted into them.

The role of health services in early help

Universal early help addresses aspects of  health inequalities, especially in the early years. The loss 
of  health visitor and school nursing capacity in many places makes this harder. Public health support 
through, for example, Family Nurse Partnerships and the ‘Best Start in Life’ programmes has a valuable 
part to play, especially following multiple periods of  lockdown when babies and young children have 
lost so much socialisation and play.

Public health approaches also offer a whole systems way of  tackling alcohol and domestic abuse. 
Domestic violence is a very significant factor in child welfare concerns and can be perpetuated through 
families across generations.

I worry that levels of violence and abuse are so endemic in some of our communities that it is not 
even recognised as a problem. We are dealing with a lot of violence in families -  children to adult 
violence as well, this is learned acceptable behaviour.
North East Director of Children’s Services

Mental health is still the most significant area in which more help is needed both for children and for 
adults. Parental mental health problems often underlie issues of  child neglect and abuse, making this 
an important priority for health commissioning. Further investment is still needed in both child and 
parental mental health and should be a priority for the new Integrated Care System.

      13
Page 33



We have collaborated 
with a charity to set up 
a school offer including 
therapeutic support. 
Because of the charity’s 
independence they were 
much freer to try new 
things. It was a different 
and refreshing attitude.

North East Director of Children’s Services

      14
Page 34



A better youth offer

A graduated cross-agency youth offer is needed. Crime linked to substance misuse has risen and we 
are seeing more younger children using drugs, with cases of  13-year-olds heavily immersed in drugs 
culture and subject to criminal exploitation. At the same time spending on youth support has been 
reduced by austerity measures.

Too often we are reacting to the behaviour of  teenagers and not looking at what lies behind it. Improved 
understanding of  the impact of  adverse childhood experiences and trauma and approaches that work 
to positively impact on behaviour change are needed. This has implications for workforce development, 
which are explored later in this report.

There are growing concerns about the risks that young people are exposed to outside of  the family. 
New approaches based on ‘contextual safeguarding’ are welcome but need further development as 
part of  a graduated cross agency youth offer. More can be offered by youth workers and the highly 
skilled and professional workers in youth offending teams. Youth work can play a crucial role in 
reducing demand for social care intervention with teenagers and diverting young people from crime. 

The police also have an important role to play in working with young people, including diversionary 
youth work. It would be helpful for the police to invest their funding for additional officers in working 
collaboratively with youth.

There is also scope to work with the third sector more effectively to improve early help. Families are 
more likely to trust and respond to people from within their communities and third sector organisations 
often bring creativity and flexibility. 

We have collaborated with a charity to set up a school offer including therapeutic support. 
Because of the charity’s independence they were much freer to try new things. It was a different 
and refreshing attitude.
North East Director of Children’s Services

Recommendations

  A paradigm shift is needed, away from an interventionist, binary  system to one of  partnership with 
families in local communities. A long-term cross government strategy for early help and prevention is 
needed, which puts investment in people and social regeneration alongside economic regeneration at 
the heart of  the levelling up agenda. Cross-system investment is needed to back this up.

 Funding for early help must shift from grant-based short-term initiatives to long-term investment. A 
bolder approach to the roll-out of  good practice across the country should be available to all local 
authorities.

  A graduated cross-agency youth offer is needed which addresses potential criminal exploitation and 
safeguarding though a ‘contextual safeguarding’ approach.  An enhanced role for youth workers and 
embedding the remit of  youth offending teams within a new broader youth provision would support 
this approach. 

      15
Page 35



Partnerships and integration

Summary

Children’s social care cannot meet the needs of  children and families alone. Tackling issues like 
domestic abuse, mental ill health and substance abuse require collaboration with the police, health, 
schools and others. National policy needs to drive more integrated working. There should be a statutory 
duty for local authorities, health, the police and schools to collaborate to meet the early help needs of  
children in their local area. Children’s needs must be given greater priority in the NHS and must not get 
lost in the Integrated Care System reforms.

Key challenges and proposals

In the North East, children’s social care currently operates within a broad and complex array of  
partnership systems. Some work well, some less so. Too often agencies have different priorities that 
pull in different directions and, too often, children’s social care services are left to resolve a crisis in 
isolation, without the meaningful engagement of  partners. 

There is less national emphasis than for adults on developing integrated approaches across partnership 
systems. Whilst there are good examples of  multi-disciplinary working on the ground, for example in 
early help, schools, MASH and youth justice, it is a mixed picture and there is insufficient integrated 
planning at strategic level. The lack of  a common practice culture also hinders effective partnership 
working and different priorities cause fragmentation in the system at local, regional and national level.

A duty to collaborate

There should be a statutory duty for local authorities, health, the police and schools to collaborate 
to meet the early help needs of  children in their local area. National policy direction should commit 
statutory partners to integrated working based upon Health and Wellbeing Boards, in order to ensure 
focus on the needs of  local populations and accountability to local communities. Agencies should be 
held to account on partnership working by regulators.

The skills that are required to lead partnerships are different from those required to lead individual 
organisations. Investment in local systems development across agencies is required for successful 
partnership working. Middle leaders play a particularly important role, joining up shared policy with 
front line delivery. Creating the opportunity to develop shared understanding and common purpose is 
essential. 

Health priorities

The NHS needs to intervene early to prevent children and young people with complex physical and 
mental health problems escalating to crisis point. It is too often the case that children’s social care 
services are the only agency with consistent involvement with a family and they are left to step in to 
provide a service because the NHS has been unable to do so.

      16
Page 36



Mental health services are struggling. We recently had a meeting with health to talk about tier 4 
beds. It’s estimated that we need 120 beds for the region and we actually have 70. This means 
that you can’t get beds for children who need them, and young people are remaining in the care 
system or coming out into it as an alternative. That creates great difficulties. 
North East Director of Children’s Services

There is not enough capacity in tier 4 beds which is driving some of our placement challenges 
and some of the unregulated arrangements.  Other parts of the system can say they are full or 
that someone doesn’t meet their criteria. The local authority can’t say no. 
North East Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care

NHS commissioning does not prioritise or invest sufficiently in children’s provision.  Continuing health 
care for children is difficult to access and the lack of  timely and appropriate mental health support 
for children and young people often means that inappropriate services are left bridging gaps and 
residential placements are struggling under pressure. For too many young people the transition from 
child to adult health support does not work well and often creates an avoidable pressure point in their 
life. Increased recognition of  the importance of  very early years is not matched by investment. A life 
course approach to commissioning NHS services is needed which recognises children and young 
people as equals. 

The current NHS White Paper24 is very light indeed regarding the health needs of  children, reinforcing 
the sense that children and young people are not a priority for the Integrated Care System. The 
implementation of  the White Paper would create the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care 
System, the largest in the country, covering 13 Health and Wellbeing Board areas. It is vital that 
children’s priorities don’t get lost in these large and complex governance arrangements. The NHS re-
structure must improve NHS services for children in the North East and across the country.

The role of schools

There are many local examples of  successful partnership working with individual schools. However, 
wider system engagement is problematic because of  the fragmented nature of  the school system. 
There is a pressing need for an appropriate mechanism to collectively engage schools in cross-agency 
support for children and families and at policy level. And it is vital that individual schools can focus on 
children’s overall wellbeing and welfare as well as school improvement.

The critical role of  schools in early help is explored earlier in this report. For children in care, the Virtual 
School Headteacher plays a powerful role. However, the fact that schools are not a statutory partner 
in local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements, coupled with the complex arrangements for the 
oversight of  schools, can make it hard for individual schools to know how they fit into multi-agency 
arrangements at a strategic level. The recent review by Sir Alan Wood highlights this problem and 
suggests: 

More can and should be done to ensure head teachers and designated leads in schools can work 
more effectively with the local arrangements and, where possible, feed in a consensual view from 
the broad range of schools in any area.25

Sir Alan Wood

Directors of  children’s services in the North East would go further. A clear vision for schools 
focussing on mental wellbeing and inclusion, underpinned by trauma-informed and restorative 
approaches is needed. Regional Schools Commissioners should assure school’s early help, inclusion 
and safeguarding roles for the schools they oversee and be partners in the Local Safeguarding 
Partnerships.

      17
Page 37



Mental health services are 
struggling. We recently had 
a meeting with health to 
talk about tier 4 beds. It’s 
estimated that we need 
120 beds for the region and 
we actually have 70. This 
means that you can’t get 
beds for children who need 
them, and young people 
are remaining in the care 
system or coming out into 
it as an alternative.

North East Assistant Director of Children’s Services

      18
Page 38



Collaboration with the police

Whilst there are examples of  good partnership working with the police, there can be a disconnect 
between safeguarding responses and neighbourhood policing. Different perspectives on risk 
stemming from differing organisational cultures can make it hard to achieve child centred interventions 
proportionate to presenting needs. This is not helped by apparent divergence of  views between Her 
Majesties Inspectorate of  Constabulary (HMIC) and Ofsted. 

This absence of  joined up working creates real operational problems, for example, in the North East 
there is very little,if  any, filtering of  referrals through to social care from the police. 

We are dealing with a huge volume of referrals from the police where there has been no 
screening whatsoever. There is a cost here, not just for us dealing with this, but also for families 
who have the intrusion of contact from us, when it’s not necessary. We’re getting referrals when 
there aren’t even any children present in the household.
North East Assistant Director

Recommendations

  There should be a statutory duty for local authorities, the police, health and schools to collaborate to 
meet the early help needs of  children and families in their local area, overseen by regulation which 
holds organisations to account for the quality of  their partnership working. A national cross-government 
policy directive on integrated working needs to underpin better partnership working, with funding 
channelled through partner agencies or pooled arrangements, like the Better Care Fund model in adult 
social care.

  Children’s health must be given priority by the NHS and must not get lost in the new Integrated Care 
Systems. Close attention must be paid to fully implementing better support for children’s mental health 
and meeting the needs of  children in care.

  Government must make clear schools’ role in promoting mental wellbeing, inclusion and welfare. The 
National Schools Commissioner should ensure the Regional Schools Commissioners work as a system 
partner in Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements to assure early help, inclusion and safeguarding 
roles for the schools they oversee.

  The police should play a central role in a graduated cross-agency youth offer. The inspection 
arrangements for HMIC must be aligned with those for Ofsted.

      19
Page 39



Children’s workforce

Summary

Sufficient well-trained and supported staff  are needed to grow a wider workforce which can underpin 
new practice. More fluid roles which build flexible cross-agency and cross-profession working should 
support a system shift towards earlier help. Some roles, such as youth workers and schools-based staff  
have been squeezed out during austerity. Current national attention to workforce issues is too narrow and 
too piecemeal. National oversight and government investment is needed. Regional Improvement and 
Innovation Alliances should be funded to deliver training and development and oversee sufficiency. More 
needs to be done to equip social workers for a modern role and to support recruitment and retention.

Key challenges and proposals

There is not much movement of  staff  in or out of  the North East, but a very mobile workforce within the 
region. As is the case nationally, struggling authorities offer incentives, meaning that social workers 
move, disrupting relationships for children and generating shortages elsewhere. This is due to an overall 
insufficient number of  staff. Recruitment and retention of  experienced social workers is a particular 
issue. 

The current system is over-reliant upon qualified social workers who are not always needed for every 
role. A teenager involved with drugs and vulnerable to exploitation, a child whose parent has poor 
mental health or a young parent struggling with a new baby can be helped by a wider range of  staff. 
Youth workers, family workers and others, can work alongside families, potentially for a long time, 
providing hugely valuable help. A broader range of  roles, properly trained and supported, is needed to 
enable a shift towards early and longer-term help. 

Family support at the front line

More innovative and flexible family support roles are needed. National accreditation for frontline 
practitioners in integrated practice could build on more fluid roles. This has already been tested in the 
region, with ‘family partner’ roles in early help teams, and hybrid residential and foster care roles in 
‘no wrong door’ arrangements. Such staff  also need to be equipped with relevant specific knowledge 
and skills, for example, therapeutic training. A graduated professional offer is needed which develops 
more multi-dimensional roles, to support partnership working at every level, and create flexible career 
pathways for social care staff. Regional Improvement and Innovation Alliances could provide oversight 
of  workforce sufficiency and drive wider workforce development, if  funded to do so. 

Care roles

There is a national blind spot in relation to the residential workforce. Yet it is here that the biggest impact 
on the lives of  children in care is felt. Care experienced people tell us how much the quality of  these 
relationships with their carers matters to them.26

We are not investing in recruiting, retaining and developing the residential workforce in a  
meaningful way, but expect them to manage increasingly complex young people. We are not  
preparing people to work in those environments in a way that is sustainable.
North East Director of Children’s Services

      20
Page 40



A concerted national approach is needed to develop a comprehensive programme for staff  who 
support children where they live, including residential staff  and foster carers.

Wider workforce

There is a surprising lack of  knowledge about children in care and their needs across the wider 
children’s workforce, including in schools. Many teachers don’t have an understanding of  trauma-
informed practice and restorative approaches. Initial training across different professions needs to 
prepare teachers, the police, those in health roles, and others to deliver better informed help for children 
where there are concerns about welfare. Joint training also develops language and frameworks and 
enables people to work together better, helping to promote a shared culture for collaborative cross-
professional working.

Social work

There continues to be unacceptable variation in the quality of  newly qualified social workers, who are 
not sufficiently equipped to deal with the mixed market of  providers or partnership working, including 
with schools. Higher Education Institutions (HEI) sometimes have an unhelpful focus on generating 
income and less concern about the quality than is needed. The social work curriculum and induction of  
newly qualified social workers should be updated, and there needs to be a greater focus on working in 
partnership with other professionals and communities as part of  continuous professional development 
(CPD). This is likely to need investment.

There is still concern that social work is seen as a second-class profession, exacerbated by public blame 
and media criticism. A national approach to raising the profile and status of  children’s social work is 
needed and could contribute to celebrating our workforce more. Higher standards and better CPD should 
be developed over time and incorporated into registration requirements by Social Work England.

Career pathways for social workers are not as well described and promoted as they are in teaching, 
where a range of  roles exist forming a career structure with well-developed pathways. National support for 
management development is welcome, but piecemeal. We all know we stand and fall on the quality of  our 
first line managers but investment at every tier of  management in the whole pipeline of  talent is needed. 

Not every social worker wants to, or should, progress into management. We need to retain good quality, 
experienced social workers in front line roles. Senior practitioner roles have proved helpful. Developing 
a range of  specialist roles could add additional skills as well as help with retention. There is scope for 
HEIs to offer much more post-qualification training and development.  

Recommendations

  A more diverse and better skilled wider children’s social care workforce is essential to underpin new 
practice. Regional Improvement and Innovation Alliances should be funded to enable training and 
development and to oversee sufficiency. 

  An integrated workforce is needed with new fluid and hybrid roles to deliver early help and enhance 
cross-system professional working. Accreditation for frontline practitioners should be developed and 
cross-agency training encouraged.

  The social work training curriculum should be updated and clear career pathways for both 
management and senior and specialist social worker roles designed. Higher standards for CPD 
should be set and incorporated by Social Work England.

      21
Page 41



We are not investing in 
recruiting, retaining and 
developing the residential 
workforce in a  meaningful 
way, but expect them 
to manage increasingly 
complex young people. 
We are not preparing 
people to work in those 
environments in a way that 
is sustainable.

North East Director of Children’s Services

      22
Page 42



Care markets

Summary

Across the country, there are significant and increasing costs for children’s residential and foster care. 
Higher rates of children in care in the North East creates growing financial pressure. The current range 
of provision does not meet need and is of variable quality. Local authorities run residential and foster care 
well and more investment would pay off. The ‘market’ is not a true market and should be dismantled or 
radically overhauled.

Key challenges and proposals

Children and young people’s outcomes should be the primary focus for all providers operating within 
the care system. The concept of a care ‘market’ is fundamentally flawed. The role for the independent 
sector in the provision of fostering and residential care is highly problematic. Fees are increasing at a 
rate that is unsustainable and measures to cap rates and set a fair price for care are needed.

The ‘market’

The way the children’s care market operates is not like a traditional commercial market – it is driven by 

public sector investment into private sector provision. As there is no effective competition between 
providers, the development of ever larger providers and less competition is the result. The market 
increasingly resembles a series of cartels, able to regulate the supply of provision to retain profit 
margins and make considerable private profit from public funding. This is a point being explored in the 
Competition and Markets Authority work, to which two North East authorities have contributed.

It’s a provider led market. We don’t get any of the benefits of a commercial market. It’s completely 
broken. Competition is supposed to drive up quality and drive down costs. It’s the opposite in 
relation to residential and foster care – costs go up and quality goes down.
North East Director of Children’s Services

There is concern about the financial models of many providers that are predicated on loading debt onto 
providers, underpinned by venture capital, which make these businesses more vulnerable to collapse.27   

This range of issues has intensified since the completion of the 2016 review of residential care in 
England by Sir Martin Narey.28 Recommendations, which have still not been implemented included more 
support to develop regional commissioning arrangements and national oversight of secure provision, 
concerns echoed again in the Local Government Association children’s homes report earlier this year.29

Government needs to take action. The market should be dismantled or overhauled to eliminate or cap 
excess profit making and stimulate real competition. Local authorities and not-for-profit organisations 
could be resourced by government to take on the provision of all residential care with a system of 
transfer from private providers, if government had the appetite to do so.   Regardless of the future 
approach it is essential that substantial capital funding is made available at national level to enable local 
authorities to rapidly expand their residential offer. Local authorities provide good quality residential 
care and could do more. In the North East there is a strong track record of high-quality residential care 
for complex young people, with two secure children’s homes consistently rated outstanding by Ofsted.

      23
Page 43



The North East picture

North East local authorities spent over £150m with 290 providers in the independent sector in 2020/21, 
yet current residential care provision is not sufficient or flexible enough to meet needs. The uneven 
spread of  residential provision, in the main based on property prices, creates substantial geographical 
challenges and it is exceptionally difficult and sometimes impossible to match a young person’s needs 
to available provision.  Most of  the North East provision is a standard longer-term residential care offer 
in four or five bed homes, whereas the greatest demand is for more specialist, low-volume provision. 
Some places in the North East have an oversupply of  standard residential care, but still experience 
shortages for local children. 

There are specific gaps in specialist / low volume provision for:

  Emergency and temporary care

  Specialist placements (including respite)

52-week residential and specialist education and care

Preparation for return home/step down from secure/residential to foster care

Sibling-group placements

Complex behaviour / learning disability / autism /disabled children and young people

Provision for 16/17 year olds

Parent and child placements (including assessment)

More provision is needed overall. A complete rethink of  the residential system is required to provide 
flexible responses to meet the needs of  children and young people.  For some young people residential 
settings are the right place to meet their needs, but we increasingly require bespoke provision that 
doesn’t exist. There is also a worrying trend of  residential providers ‘cherry-picking’ the young people 
they will accept and even worse, the termination of  placements with immediate effect, leading to very 
damaging consequences for children.

Fostering provision

In terms of  fostering provision, Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) compete with local authorities 
(and indeed local authorities compete with each other) in relation to recruitment of  carers, but with a 
broad set of  commercial advantages.  Competition drives cost in the system and there is little or no 
evidence of  the tangible benefits of  this model. The review should examine whether it would be better 
for all foster carers to be aligned to the local authority in which they live or consider other options 
to have a single co-ordinated approach to recruitment and retention. This will remove the costs of  
competition and profit so they can be redirected to support outcomes for children and young people. 

Commissioning

Regional arrangements for commissioning are in place, but are not proving effective enough and there 
is little or no incentive for providers to participate in commissioning framework agreements. The bulk 
of  spend continues to be off-framework (more so in residential than in fostering placements), with 
providers not needing to engage in commissioning approaches. Placement-costs and Ofsted matching 
requirements can make block contracting less feasible. Greater system capacity and capability for 
market management needs to be developed. There are lessons to be learned from adult services where 
the duty to ensure sufficient provision, coupled with better developed approaches to quality oversight, 
enable more dynamic relationships with the independent sector. 

      24
Page 44



Recommendations

  The children’s care provider market should be dismantled or overhauled. Profit-making from children’s 
residential and foster care must be eliminated or capped. If  a mixed economy of  provision remains, a 
national approach is needed to the management of  the ,market,, which must address sufficiency and 
develop a fair price for care with national terms. Capital investment is needed to create new capacity

  The review should examine whether it would be better for all foster carers to be aligned to the local 
authority in which they live or consider other options to have a single co-ordinated approach to 
recruitment and retention.  

  Government should support growth in overall care capacity and a wider range of  placements, with 
a greater focus on public sector and not-for-profit delivery. Additional capital investment and risk 
sharing arrangements are needed to support the development of  local capacity.

Ofsted regulatory framework

Summary

Regulation is essential to set and maintain high standards in care settings for children. The regulatory 
system for children should be overhauled to reflect the more flexible methods of  working which are 
needed and to encourage both supply and diversity of  provision. A more collaborative approach with 
Ofsted is needed. Arrangements for registering new settings should be streamlined. Children in care 
should not be living in unregulated settings.

Key challenges and proposals

North East directors of  children’s services believe that all residential provision for children and young 
people should be regulated. The false divide created by the definitions of  ‘care’ and ‘support’ to decide 
on which provision requires regulation is unnecessary and does not reflect the complex, dynamic needs 
of  our children and young people.

The current regulatory framework is not fit for purpose and is driving behaviours across the system that 
are detrimental to meeting the needs of  children and young people.  Simply expanding regulation in 
its current form is not the answer and will only extend the unintended consequences that already exist 
within regulated provision.   

The style of  enforcing regulation by Ofsted can be inflexible. If  the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
find problems, it issues a warning and review, to give time for improvements to be made. In contrast, 
Ofsted applies regulation very literally. A more collaborative approach could be taken which need not 
compromise standards.

      25
Page 45



Approach to regulation

When there are problems in a home, the first response from Ofsted can be to require a young person 
to be moved when this should be the last thing that is considered. Recently an experienced registered 
manager said it was harder to manage the interface with Ofsted than the challenging behaviour of  a 
child he was trying to support to stay in his home. The reaction to risks with individual children feels 
disproportionate.

There was an instance in one of my children’s homes where the grading went from inadequate to 
outstanding, and when I asked the inspector why, it was entirely to do with the fact that a single 
young person with challenging behaviour was no longer resident.
North East Director of Children’s Services

Implementing the ‘no wrong door’ approach in the region has shown that Ofsted can be supportive, in 
an enabling role, getting alongside services to do the right thing for children.  New ways of  regulating 
support have been designed, especially around neglect, providing flexible help which is far more long-
term. Ofsted can support new ways of  working collaboratively.

No one disputes the need for careful regulation, but the impact on the wider system, including supply 
of  placements, does not seem to be recognised. Ofsted registration is a barrier to entry for residential 
children’s home providers. Ofsted has a positive role to play which is supportive of  developing the 
additional capacity that is needed to better meet the needs of  children.

Who and what to regulate

The current approach to regulation is overly focussed on buildings, with a black-and-white approach to 
compliance, making it particularly hard to place children with complex needs. 

Many adolescents entering care have complex, over-lapping health and social care needs  
requiring a tailored multidisciplinary support response. This is particularly true for the cohort of  young 
people on the edge of  hospitalisation (tier 4 mental health services), criminalisation, or who are in 
need of  a welfare secure placement. A change in the regulatory framework to make it more flexible to 
respond to children’s needs in essential.30 

It would be better to regulate the quality of  providers not buildings, with the focus on meeting the needs 
of  the child. The biggest issue for a new provider is finding a suitable building and then the length of  
the process to get registered.

We created a bespoke placement for a 14-year-old with severe mental health issues. We  
have the lease on a suitable property and good staffing. It’s working really well for him. But it’s 
going to be 12 months before it’s registered, so we will be keeping a young person in llegal 
unregistered accommodation for all that time.
North East Director of Children’s Services

I’m refurbishing the building for respite care. I have the same children, the same staff and am 
providing the same support. But I’m waiting months for building approval in order to renew  
registration - it’s ridiculously detailed and seems unnecessary. 
North East Director of Children’s Services

      26
Page 46



Unregulated care

Unregulated care is a complex issue. It is important to be clear about the range of  children and 
circumstances that we are referring to when we use this phrase. There are concerns about:

  Provision for children who may not need or want full time care. The supported accommodation 
market is not currently regulated, and quality is variable

  Children who need care but for whom no placement can be found. The only option is to develop 
bespoke arrangements, which are unregulated. Oversight and responsibility rests with the local 
authority, but not within a formal framework. The local authority is exposed to potential criticism, or 
even prosecution, whilst trying to do the best thing possible for the child concerned

  Young people over the age of  16 who professionals feel need care, but who won’t accept it

Do I think a 16-year-old should live in supported accommodation? No. 
Would I want my child living in unregulated supported accommodation? No. 
But some children do benefit from this provision. What we need is a properly nuanced approach 
to ensuring that regulation is applied to this range of circumstances in a proportionate way.
North East Director of Children’s Services

The test should be whether a set of  arrangements is safe and is meeting the child or young person’s 
needs. 

Children in care should not be living in unregulated settings but it is not possible to consider the issue 
of  unregulated provision without addressing the deficit in placement sufficiency. Our key challenge 
is not the existence of  semi-independent provision outside of  the regulatory framework, it is lack of  
provision of  all types that are able to give a safe, loving and nurturing environment for children and 
young people. The complex challenges we face need a far more nuanced response.

Recommendations

  Young people’s needs must be a clearer driver for regulation. An overhaul of  the children’s regulatory 
system is needed in the light of  more flexible working with families and to encourage both supply and 
diversity of  care settings for children.

  Ofsted should collaborate with the sector to better understand the impact of  regulation on practice 
and to remove unnecessary barriers to creating services without compromising standards. The 
provider should be registered rather than the building.

  Regulation of  supported living and care settings should reflect the continuum of  arrangements 
needed for young people and should be proportionate whilst not diluting standards. Care should 
always be in regulated settings.

      27
Page 47



The lack of time for thought, 
because of pressure of time 
for everyone, is driving 
a culture which is legal 
threshold driven and which 
can lose focus on the needs 
of families - just because the 
threshold is met it doesn’t 
mean the legal route is the 
right one.

North East Director of Children’s Services

      28
Page 48



Court system and family justice 

Summary

We need to rethink how we use our legal system and build better collaboration. Court processes 
currently force binary decisions, when the reality for many families is more complicated, as risks are not 
static and vary over time. Coupled with an apparent lack of  confidence in the professionalism of  social 
workers, this is driving an overly cautious approach. If  we are to shift the balance towards supporting 
families, this will mean less court intervention. We need to be clear about when the state should be 
intervening in family life and develop a stronger understanding with the courts about what care is for. 
We should reclaim the spirit of  the 1989 Children Act.

Key challenges and proposals

Directors in the North East feel strongly that reclaiming the spirit of  the 1989 Children Act should 
underpin a refreshed relationship between the state and families where there are potential concerns 
about child welfare. We must make real the intention of  the act to ensure early support to families who 
need it.

It shall be the general duty of  every local authority to safeguard and promote the welfare of  children 
within their area who are in need; and so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing 
of  such children by their families, by providing a range and level of  services appropriate to those 
children’s needs. 
Section 17 of the Children Act 1989

Demand in the North East has risen steeply and levels of  court activity are not sustainable. The 
steepest rise is in relation to young children and babies which is already a focus for regional work. The 
sheer volume of  activity in the court system is compromising its effectiveness.

The lack of time for thought, because of pressure of time for everyone, is driving a culture which 
is legal threshold driven and which can lose focus on the needs of families - just because the 
threshold is met it doesn’t mean the legal route is the right one.
North East Director of Children’s Services

There should be more focus on pre-proceedings and alternatives to court and there need to be better 
ways of  managing risk. Authorities in the North East using the Leeds ‘Family Valued’ model find it is 
helping them to think differently. 

Better collaboration

Shared evidence and a shared narrative are needed to inform collaborative working amongst all key 
players at court area level. A strategic overview of  the dynamics within the system is needed. The court 
liaison committees are useful, but these judge-led arrangements are not currently equipped to take a 
whole-system view.

      29
Page 49



Monitoring information does not currently reflect outcomes, focusing instead on process, because 
of  historical difficulties with timely progression. This is also reflected in the otherwise helpful Nuffield 
Family Justice Observatory31 analysis, which does not consider outcomes.  Analysing data on the 
outcomes of  proceedings at a regional and national level would create the opportunity to understand 
overall patterns in the court process and highlight professional trends and issues.

It is also important that all in the court system can learn from practice. There can be a stark cumulative 
impact from individual judgements. So, for example in the North East:

  The focus in one court on reducing repeat proceedings has led to more care orders made where the 
plan is for the children to live at home

  In another court numbers of  repeat proceedings have risen because of  the court avoiding 
proceedings extending beyond the 26-week target

  Rules of  thumb applied by court to limit the length of  the use of  Section 20, are driving the issuing of  
proceedings earlier, which can hamper the ability to work alongside parents for longer when needed

  There is anecdotal evidence that the reduction in legal aid is pushing cases from private law courts to 
public law courts, to facilitate legal representation of  parents in dispute. It cannot be right that we are 
using public law to decide that a child moves from living with one parent to living with the other

The role of  guardians also has a direct impact on practice. At worst, some guardians see themselves as 
wholly autonomous and have become ‘critics’ of  the system. At best, there is a more collaborative role, 
which does not compromise independence.

The adversarial nature of  the court process can lead to unnecessary antagonism between professionals 
and families, which can undermine relationships which have been built with parents. 

Support for realistic parenting

Attention needs to be given to thresholds and what is viewed as ‘good enough’ parenting, including for 
connected persons. Placing children within family and community networks can be best for children, 
even when the quality of  care does not meet conventional standards. Tailored help may be needed to 
support some arrangements. It is important to be realistic about what can be achieved and recognise 
that imperfect circumstances are sometimes in a child’s best interests. A more flexible and less risk- 
averse approach is needed.

The wider impact from courts and Cafcass actions across the system, including individual judgments, 
should be understood and owned collaboratively. This shared purpose can support the best 
practitioners to work in partnership across the system in the interests of  children and families and to 
avoid an unintended risk-averse approach. Ongoing dialogue about practice should be central to the 
wider system oversight proposed at court area level.

      30
Page 50



Recommendations

  Stronger arrangements are needed for collaboration across the courts system, which do not 
compromise the independence of  the courts or guardians but give better oversight of  how the 
system is working to enable greater consistency and cultural change. The Public Law Working Group 
has made some progress, but a wider, more fundamental, cross-system review is needed. 

  A better understanding is needed of  how the court system is working in practice against the 
intentions of  the Children Act 1989, with particular attention to providing support to families and 
intervening only when necessary. There must be a focus on outcomes.

  Attention is needed as to how the law can operate to support realistic parenting in families, who may 
need help over an extended period, and to enable ‘good enough’ care in the community. This should 
include connected persons arrangements. A cross-sector debate, including with Ofsted, should 
address how risk is managed outside of  court proceedings and thresholds for decision-making.

      31
Page 51



All recommendations

Early help          
1. A paradigm paradigm shift is needed, away from an interventionist, binary (in care or out of  

care, child protection or not child protection)  system to one of  partnership with families in local 
communities. A long-term cross government strategy for early help and prevention is needed which 
puts investment in people and social regeneration alongside economic regeneration at the heart of  
the ‘levelling up’ agenda. Cross-system investment is needed to back this up. 

2. Funding for early help must shift from grant-based short-term initiatives to long-term investment. A 
bolder approach to the roll-out of  good practice across the country should be available to all local 
authorities.

3. A graduated cross-agency youth offer is needed which addresses potential criminal exploitation and 
safeguarding though a ‘contextual safeguarding’ approach.  An enhanced role for youth workers and 
embedding the remit of  youth offending teams within a new broader youth provision would support 
this approach. 

Partnership and integration 
4. There should be a statutory duty for the police, health and schools to collaborate to meet the 

early help needs of  children and families in their local area, overseen by regulation which holds 
organisations to account for the quality of  their partnership working. A national cross government 
policy directive on integrated working needs to underpin better partnership working, with funding 
channelled through partner agencies or pooled arrangements, like the Better Care Fund model in 
adult social care.

5. Children’s health must be given priority by the NHS and must not get lost in the new Integrated Care 
Systems. Close attention must be paid to fully implementing better support for children’s mental 
health and to meeting the needs of  children in care.

6. Government must make clear schools’ role in promoting mental wellbeing, inclusion and welfare. 
The National Schools Commissioner should ensure the Regional Schools Commissioners work as 
a system partner in Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements to assure early help, inclusion and 
safeguarding roles for the schools they oversee.

7. The police should play a central role in a graduated cross-agency youth offer. The inspection 
arrangements for HMIC must be aligned with those for Ofsted.

      32
Page 52



Children’s workforce
8. A more diverse and better skilled wider children’s social care workforce is essential to underpin new 

practice. Regional Improvement and Innovation Alliances should be funded to enable training and 
development and to oversee sufficiency. 

9. An integrated workforce is needed with new fluid and hybrid roles to deliver early help and enhance 
cross-system professional working. Accreditation for frontline practitioners should be developed and 
cross-agency training encouraged.

10. The social work training curriculum should be updated and clear career pathways for both 
management and senior and specialist social worker roles designed. Higher standards for CPD 
should be set and incorporated by Social Work England.

11. Managers are critical to good practice. National approaches to develop managers at every level are 
needed.

Care markets
12. The children’s care provider market should be dismantled or overhauled. Profit-making from 

children’s residential and foster care must be eliminated or capped. If  a mixed economy of  
provision remains, a national approach is needed to the management of  the market, which must 
address sufficiency and develop a fair price for care with national terms. Capital investment is 
needed to create new capacity.

13. The review should examine whether it would be better for all foster carers to be aligned to the LA in 
which they live or consider other options to have a single co-ordinated approach to recruitment and 
retention.  

14. Government should support growth in overall care capacity and a wider range of  placements, with 
a greater focus on public sector and not for profit delivery. Additional capital investment and risk 
sharing arrangements are needed to support the development of  local capacity.

Ofsted regulatory framework
15. Young people’s needs must be a clearer driver for regulation. An overhaul of  the children’s 

regulatory system is needed in the light of  more flexible working with families and to encourage 
both supply and diversity of  care settings for children.

16. Ofsted should collaborate with the sector to better understand the impact of  regulation on practice 
and to remove unnecessary barriers to creating services, without compromising standards. The 
provider should be registered rather than the building.

17. Regulation of  supported living and care settings should reflect the continuum of  arrangements 
needed for young people and should be proportionate whilst not diluting standards. Care should 
always be in regulated settings.

      33
Page 53



Court system and family justice
18. Stronger arrangements are needed for collaboration across the courts system, which do not 

compromise the independence of  the courts or guardians but give better oversight of  how the 
system is working to enable greater consistency and cultural change. The Public Law Working 
Group has made some progress, but a wider, more fundamental, cross-system review is needed.

19. A better understanding is needed of  how the court system is working in practice against the 
intentions of  the Children Act 1989, with particular attention to providing support to families and 
intervening only when necessary. There must be a focus on outcomes.

20. Attention is needed as to how the law can operate to support realistic parenting in families who may 
need help over an extended period and to enable ‘good enough’ care in the community. This should 
include connected persons arrangements. A cross-sector debate, including with Ofsted, should 
address how risk is managed outside of  court proceedings and thresholds for decision-making.

The 12 directors of North East Children’s Services 

James Stroyan   Darlington Borough Council

John Pearce    Durham County Council

Caroline O’Neill  Gateshead Council

Sally Robinson   Hartlepool Borough Council

Sue Butcher   Middlesbrough Council

Judith Hay   Newcastle City Council

Jacqui Old   North Tyneside Council

Cath McEvoy-Carr Northumberland County Council

Kathryn Boulton  Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council

Shona Gallagher South Tyneside Council

Martin Gray  Stockton on Tees Borough Council

Jill Colbert  Together for Children Sunderland

      34
Page 54



End notes
1 See for example: Care Experienced Conference https://info822785.wixsite.com/careexpconf  and  

Our Care Our Say: https://ourcareoursay.wordpress.com/ 

2 Local Authority Interactive Tool: 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 

3 North East ADCS unpublished research drawing on data available from ONS and NOMIS 

4 Public Health England: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles 

5 Hood, R., Goldacre, A., Grant, R. and Jones, R. (2016) ‘Exploring Demand and 
 Provision in English Child Protection Services’, British Journal of  Social Work, 46(4), pp. 923-941.

6 Department for Education (2021) ‘Free school meals: Autumn term’: 
 https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-pupils-and-their-

characteristics 

7 Bradshaw, J. (2020) ‘Child Poverty in the North East region’ 
 https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Child%20poverty%20in%20the%20NE.pdf  

8 Action for Children (2020) ‘Most UK children ‘a pay cheque away’ from going without essentials like 
food: https://www.actionforchildren.org.uk/media-centre/most-uk-children-pay-cheque-away-going-
without-essentials-like-food/ 

9 Hirsch, D. and Stone, J. (2021) ‘Local indicators of  child poverty after housing costs, 2019/20’: 
http://endchildpoverty.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Local-child-poverty-indicators-report-
MAY-2021_FINAL.pdf  

10 National Audit Office (2018) ‘Financial sustainability of  local authorities 2018’: https://www.nao.org.
uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Financial-sustainabilty-of-local-authorites-2018.pdf  

11 Local Government Association media release, ‘75p in every £1 of  core government funding to 
councils cut by 2020’, July 2017 

12 Local Government Association media release, 
 ‘Children’s care cash crisis: nine in 10 councils pushed into the red’ January 2019 

13 Local analysis using National Audit Office ‘Financial sustainability of  local authorities 2018 
visualisation’ tool: https://www.nao.org.uk/other/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018-
visualisation/  and National Audit Office revenue spending power dataset 

14 Nuffield Family Justice Observatory (2021): ‘Newborn babies in urgent care proceedings in England 
and Wales’: https://mk0nuffieldfjo6t5dfm.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/newborn-
babies-in-urgent-care-proceedings-in-england-and-wales-summary-0621.pdf. See also: https://adcs.
org.uk/general-subject/article/born-into-care-a-north-east-dcs-perspective 

15 Local Authority Interactive Tool: 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 

16 Department for Education, Children looked after in England including adoption: 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-looked-after-children   

17 Hood, R., Goldacre, A., Grant, R. and Jones, R. (2016) ‘Exploring Demand and 
 Provision in English Child Protection Services’, British Journal of  Social Work, 46(4), pp. 923-941. 

18 Bywaters, P et al (2016) ‘The relationship between poverty, child abuse and neglect: an evidence 
review’, Joseph Rowntree Foundation: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/relationship-between-poverty-
child-abuse-and-neglect-evidence-review   

      35
Page 55



19 ADCS Safeguarding Pressures, Phase 7, regional report: North East (unpublished) 

20 CIN data, Data to Insight benchmarking tool (shortened version): https://www.datatoinsight org/

21 ONS, domestic abuse in England and Wales data tool: https://www.
ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/
domesticabuseinenglandandwalesdatatool 

22  Pro Bono Economics (2021), ‘Children and Young People’s Services: Spending 2010-11 to 2019-20’: 
https://www.probonoeconomics.com/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=fca940e7-7923-4eb3-90d3-
be345f067017 

23 National Children’s Bureau (2021) ‘Supporting and strengthening families through provision of  early 
help – A rapid review of  evidence’: https://www.ncb.org.uk/supporting-and-strengthening-families-
through-early-help-rapid-review-evidence 

24 Department of  Health and Social Care (2021) ‘Integration and innovation: working together to 
improve health and social care for all’: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960548/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-
health-and-social-care-for-all-web-version.pdf  

25 Wood Report (2021) “Sector expert review of  new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements: https://
assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987928/
Wood_Review_of_multi-agency_safeguarding_arrangements_2021.pdf  

26 See for example: Care Experienced Conference https://info822785.wixsite.com/careexpconf  and Our 
Care Our Say: https://ourcareoursay.wordpress.com/ 

27 LGA and Revolution Consulting Limited (2021) ‘Profit Making and Risk in Independent Children’s 
Social Care Placement Providers, 2nd update report May 2021’: https://www.revolution-consulting.
org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Profit-Making-and-Risk-in-Independent-Childrens-Social-Care-
Placement-Providers-FINAL-update-2-Spring-2021.pdf  

28 Residential care in England (2016) ‘Report of  Sir Martin Narey’s independent review of  children’s 
residential care’: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/534560/Residential-Care-in-England-Sir-Martin-Narey-July-2016.pdf  

29 Newgate Research (2021) ‘Local Government Association Children’s Homes Research’: 
 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Childrens%20Homes%20Research%20-%20

Newgate.pdf  

30 ADCS (2021) ‘What is care for?’: 
 https://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCS_What_is_care_for_2021_FINAL.pdf  

31 Nuffield Family Justice Observatory (2021) “Newborn babies in urgent care proceedings in England 

and Wales”: https://www.nuffieldfjo.org.uk/resource/newborn-babies-urgent-care proceedings 

Preparation of  this report supported by 
Alison O’Sullivan assisted by Rachel Dickinson, Alison Michalska and Abigail Holder

      36
Page 56



5TH EDITION - CICC NEWSLETTER - SEPTEMBER 2021

Welcome to the 5th edition of the Durham CICC newsletter. All of the articles have
been written by care experienced young people aged between 9 and 16, capturing their
experiences and thoughts regarding their life choices and support received.

In this newsletter you will be able to read about what an independent visitor is and how
they can benefit everyone, a young person’s experience in year 3 and much more. I
found these articles interesting and very informative, as each one is packed with
information and experience from the young people that wrote them. 

                                                                   

                                                                                   
                                                                                                                                                   

THIS NEWSLETTER HAS BEEN CREATED 
BY YOUNG PEOPLE FOR YOUNG PEOPLE 
AND ADULTS 

Page 2 Independent Visitors and why they can be beneficial to you  
Page 3 My life in year 3 
Page 4 My life in year 3 (continued) 
Page 5 Is it my fault?
Page 6 The Police are good people
Page 7 Pupil Premium  

Editor's comments by
Alex
Aged 16

Dates for your diary: 
Thursday 23rd September 5 - 6.30pm: Younger group (13 and under) CICC meeting
Thursday 30th September 5 - 7pm: Older group (14+) CICC meeting
Tuesday 19th October 5 - 7pm: Younger and older groups joint meeting   

For more information check out: 
The CICC website: https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/ 
Our new podcast 'We Are No Different': 
 https://open.spotify.com/show/5PAuKX7lzgVvFmf3uboTJp

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



Help you with Mental Health 
Help you with social anxiety
They are matched to your personality 
They have a £25 limit to spend on you per visit 
You plan the trips / activities (perhaps you would like a day out at Beamish Museum,
a day in the sunshine at the beach, to watch a movie at the cinema, or go to your
favourite place for food) 

Are you sick and tired of sitting in your room at home? Bored, lonely, sad. Well, an
independent visitor could just be what you need. 

This is a young people's person who is just for you. They come from both the young
people's service (16+) and the the young children's service (16 and under.) Any person
who is in care is entitled to an independent visitor, from primary school until you turn 18
years old.

To apply for an independent visitor ask your social worker and keep pushing until they
have applied. Remember, if you don't ask, you don't get. 

You can meet your independent visitor with someone you feel comfortable with. You can
ask your social worker to change your independent visitor if you don't like them.

If you are not serious then don't apply! But you are missing out on a experience other
kids might not have had the chance to do.
 

 INDEPENDENT VISITORS AND WHY THEY CAN BE BENEFICIAL TO YOU

Written by Lally
Aged 16

 DID YOU KNOW? 

WHAT IS AN INDEPENDENT VISITOR?

HOW CAN AN INDEPENDENT VISITOR BE BENEFICIAL TO YOU?

HOW TO APPLY FOR AN INDEPENDENT VISITOR?

Page 58



I am going to tell you about my life in year 3.

In August 2019 I moved to my permanent home. I also changed schools. In September
2019 I started year 3 and was a little nervous at first, but soon got used to the new
routine.

I met the teachers, who were called Mrs C and Mrs B. Mrs B showed me where to sit.
My seat was next to someone called Mary and every lunch time we would put our coats
away, wash our hands and then to go to the cafeteria together. Mary is one of my best
friends.

Mary lives in the same street as me and before lockdown, when the weather was nice,
we would visit each other's houses to play in our gardens, but mostly we played in
Mary’s. She has a Labrador and its name is Rosie. Mary doesn’t really have much of a
big garden, but she has a big slide and lots of toys. 

Year 3 did a lot of art. The theme in art was Jackson Pollock. I had so much fun in art.  I
remember one great science experiment in year 3. We had three eggs and three cups.
One was full of water, the second one had vinegar and the third one had diet coke and
we placed an egg in each one. Over a couple of weeks, we would check if they had
cracked. The only one which didn’t crack was the one in water. We learnt that the egg
shells were similar to our teeth and if we eat or drink too much vinegar, or too much
fizzy pop, then it can damage our teeth forever.

MY LIFE IN YEAR 3

Page 59



Our playground was huge. So big that it could be a zoo. In fact, on some days, it was
like a zoo, with children climbing on the frames and chasing each other. 

For an assembly we had a Christmas party and we got to see Santa, he gave us all
presents. This was the first Christmas party I went to and it was super amazing. 

January 2020 was so cold and some days we couldn’t get to school because the
snow was so deep. Then… came the coronavirus. At first, I wasn’t sure what this
meant, but it involved lots of hand washing.

 

In March something called Lockdown happened. Tune in next time to hear about
“Lockdown”. Written by Natalia

Aged 9

MY LIFE IN YEAR 3 (CONTINUED)

Page 60



In the world of Children in Care, there are many people that feature in a child's life, and
one of the main role models are the Social Workers. Child and family Social Workers
protect children and help support families in need of assistance. Social Workers help
people solve and cope with problems in everyday life. Unfortunately, more than three out
of five children experience a change in social workers. Now, Social Workers are
supposed to be like a wall for the child and be supportive. However, how is someone
supposed to support someone else when they hardly know them and what they have
faced or are facing? 

To a child the perfect Social Worker would be someone that is continuously by their side
and doing what is best for them without fail. The Social Worker connects to a child on an
emotional level, with them knowing the ins and outs of the child's life, this causes the
child to look up to the Social Worker. Could you imagine someone meaning this much to
you leaving?

On the other hand, I do understand that being a Social Worker is a stressful job and can
be dangerous. For example, you have to prepare yourself and be able to unplug yourself
from work, otherwise your emotions can get the better of you. And although it's not a
highly paid job, they take on a lot of responsibility.

Finally, I myself had this issue of changing Social Workers all the time and believed it
was my fault they were leaving, as if I was the problem, and I didn’t know how to fix it.
This led me to not communicating as well as I used to with others around me, because I
thought as soon as I opened up they were going to leave. This caused me to ‘bottle up’
my feelings and feel alone. Would you want to see your son or daughter going through
this?

In summary, I believe that children in care shouldn’t swap Social Workers so much, due
to them blaming themselves and the effect on their mental health. So, please if you're
thinking of becoming a Social Worker for one second, do it! Because there will be a child
out there that needs you, needs your support and understanding.

Written by Demi 
Aged 16

IS IT MY FAULT?

Page 61



As you may know some of the young people in the CICC (and Rob) trained Durham
Constabulary police officers. 

The training was important, because the young people who were at the training were
care experienced and as care experienced young people we communicated to the police
and told them how they should speak to young people. They really listened and we
spoke to the police about the language they use and the uniform they wear. 

This had a positive impact on the officers who attended the training and made them think
about how it affects the young people they engage with. Some young people know police
as bad guys, due to past experiences and trauma they may have had with the police.
However, the police really helped young people boost their confidence around the police
and to see the people for who they are and not who they resemble with their uniform on.
We think more can be done, so children and young people know more about how the
police keep them safe, then they may speak up more. 

In conclusion, the police are good people helping to protect and keep everyone safe.
Therefore, if you are in danger call the emergency services, because they keep you safe
and they can't do their job If you don’t trust them.

Written by Josh
Aged 12

THE POLICE ARE GOOD PEOPLE

Page 62



In November 2020 I did some work with the virtual school and designated teachers and
with that I spoke about pupil premium. I said that all the young people don’t know how it
gets used, so I received £3000 from the virtual school. Then I worked with Investing In
Children to form a panel of 6 people, including myself, to come up with an application
form. Young people can apply for up to £150, which can be used for educational
purposes, such as school supplies or even for physical education, like one to one boxing
training. 

Once an application form has been submitted the panel will look through the
applications, to see which are the best proposals. Parents/guardians can help fill out the
application form and a signature will be required  by a parent/guardian if you are under
the age of 18. 

Written by Chloe
Aged 16

PUPIL PREMIUM

 
"The meetings are helpful because you can let your voice be heard and say what you

think."
 

"I like the CICC because you can talk about your problems and about being in care." 
 

"Agendas are well balanced and cover things that young people want to speak about."
 

"You can tell them what is happening in your life and they'll do their best to sort it out."
 

"Young people's views are listened to and taken in by CICC workers."
 

"It's very good because of the agendas CICC makes, so you always know what is going
to be talked about in the meetings we have."

WHAT WE THINK ABOUT  DURHAM CICC:

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Presentation by Mitchell CiCC / CPP representative
and Robert Johnson  - Investing in Children

Durham Children in Care Council update

July / August 2021

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 8a



• Another future foster carer training session took place virtually, with 
13 potential foster carers at the beginning of July. 

• 6 young people from the CICC led the session, with further input 
from the newest members leading on activities. Further training 
took place on 16 September.

• The feedback was fantastic and can be viewed here:  
https://forms.office.com/Pages/AnalysisPage.aspx?id=4SA3q8xD7Ua2O-FfRxp6XCzvDL4y9dZJkow1aK-
3XfxUNE85WFVUS0ZSOTBHSTNBV0hIRVg5TzdaMC4u&AnalyzerToken=ToJLkYBxwKXLhpw7dQUP6cWb
CSbCqdSt

P
age 66

https://forms.office.com/Pages/AnalysisPage.aspx?id=4SA3q8xD7Ua2O-FfRxp6XCzvDL4y9dZJkow1aK-3XfxUNE85WFVUS0ZSOTBHSTNBV0hIRVg5TzdaMC4u&AnalyzerToken=ToJLkYBxwKXLhpw7dQUP6cWbCSbCqdSt


• Twelve CICC members met with Ofsted during a focused visit in July. 
They spoke about a range of projects to improve the lives of care 
experienced young people and other children and young people in 
County Durham. The feedback from Ofsted was really good!

• The fifth CICC newsletter has been produced.   

• Feedback from Durham Constabulary regarding how they have 
responded to a CICC training session in May is positive . Young people 
from CICC will be meeting with police to review these changes in 
September.

• A research projects findings were launched, describing young 
people’s experiences of CICC during Lockdown, which involved 
Durham CICC members expressing their views and identifying how 
the findings can be better shared. P

age 67



• An accredited peer mentor course was offered to CICC members over 
the summer. 8 CICC members took up the offer and were supported 
over a full day by IIC staff to become mentors. 

• This resulted in one peer mentor supporting a new CICC member to 
attended a recent summer CICC activity, acting as their mentor. 

• The feedback from the young person and their social worker was 
fantastic. 

• The social worker explained: ‘She found it brilliant and she wants to 
be part of it again, she said it was one of the best things she's done’

P
age 68



• 14 CICC members enjoyed a summer activity to Planet Leisure, undertaking 
trampolining and bowling in two groups.

• CICC members are contributing to young people friendly information on care and 
health plans, that are important for children and young people to understand .

• Once finalised they will be added to Durham CICC website as additional 
information.  P

age 69



• Both myself and Lesley are attending university from September and 
over the next few months will be supporting some new CICC 
members to represent Durham’s CICC at future CPP meetings from 
January 2022.

• Work continues with CICC members to apply to the Key Fund, which 
supports groups of young people to apply for funding to do 
something that positively impacts on others.

• We would  also like to say a big  well done to all the young people 
who received GCSE’s results over the summer and to those going 
onto further education and University.  

• Any questions ?

P
age 70



 

             

        

 Corporate Parenting Panel  

24 September 2021 

Annual Performance Report: Supporting 

Solutions – Edge of Care, Family Group 

Conference and ERASE  

 

Report of Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’ Social Care, Durham 

County Council  

Electoral division affected:  

None 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report outlines the activity and development of the Supporting 
Solution Service (SSS) from 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021. 

Executive Summary 

2 The Supporting Solutions Service continues to develop the service to 
meet the needs of young people, parents, and carers.  The offer of 
support from Supporting Solutions includes: 

(a) Edge of care support 

(b) Family Group Conferences 

(c) Missing from Home Co-ordinator 

(d) Child Exploitation (CE) Workers  

(e) Access to crisis bed. 

Recommendation 

3 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to:   

(a) note the contents of this report. 

 

 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



Background 

4 The offer of support from Supporting Solutions includes: 

(a) Edge of care (EoC) support – intensive interventions to young 
people, parents and carers where there has been a relationship 
breakdown and without this support it is likely that the young 
person may need to become looked after or experience a 
placement move; 

(b) Family Group Conference (FGC) – support to families to identify 
and establish a sustainable plan to meet the needs of children 
and young people within their family unit; 

(c) Missing from Home Co-ordinator – co-ordination and delivery of 
services for children who are Missing from Home or our care 
(MFH); 

(d) Child Exploitation Workers – offering support and interventions to 
young people at high risk of Child Exploitation (CE); 

(e) Access to crisis bed – staffed by SSS and Emergency Duty Team 
(EDT), this provides an out of hours, one night only crisis bed for 
a young person when all other options have been explored. 

Staffing 

5 Current agreed staff ratios are: 

• Edge of Care: 13 full time equivalent posts 

• Family Group Conference: 7.5 full time equivalent posts 

• Child Exploitation: 4 full time equivalent posts 

• 2 Missing from Home Co-ordinators. 
The team also have access to a Therapeutic Social Worker from the 
Full Circle service and clinical supervision. 
 

6 Within staffing levels, the three temporary full time posts in EoC have 
been extended to 2-year contracts.  There is one full time CE post 
temporary for 1-year and one MFH co-ordinator temporary for 1-year 
due to the increase need during the COVID pandemic and funded via 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) monies. 

7 Currently there is one full time equivalent vacant post in EoC which will 
be recruited to in the coming months. 

 

 

 

Page 72



Outcomes Supporting Solutions 

8 During 2020/21 Supporting Solutions supported 179 young people (YP) 
on the edge of care.   

 

Outcome Number of young 
people 

Young people received support 179 YP including 132 
new referrals for YP  

Young People/occasions emergency bed was accessed  29 young people 
49 nights 

Number of young people who are in the care of their 
parents or family/friend at time of closure / writing report 
including those rehabilitated home from the care of the LA 

121 
7 YP rehabilitated 
from care of LA 

Number of young people who were in a long term 
placement and remained there 

11 

Number of young people who have become looked after 
children during SS interventions  

28 

Number of young people who are now living in supported 
accommodation 

5 

Number of young people who are now living in Supported 
Lodgings 

2 

Number of young people who were already looked after 
but moved to a new placement 

11 

Number of young people detained under the Mental 
Health Act 

1 

NB 
74% of young people who accessed support in 2020/21 are either at home / with 
extended family or have remained in their long term placement. 
28 young people (15%) who accessed support during 2020/21 have become 
looked after during SS interventions, this is a clear increase from the previous 
year. These young people became looked after either because of safeguarding 
reasons or because home life became so untenable it was not safe for the young 
person to remain at home. Some of these young people remain open to 
interventions from SSS in the hope that in future a return to family care can be 
supported. 
11 young people moved to a new placement as relationship with carers had 
completely broken down. SSS are exploring the timeliness of referrals made for 
CLA in long term placements. Some requests for support were made following 
carers giving their 28 day notice, had they been made earlier there is the potential 
that this may have reduced placement moves for some young people. 
During 2020/21 intervention ended with 115 young people, at the point of closure 
73% of young people were either at home / with extended family or have 
remained in their long term placement. 

Page 73



9 There has been an increase of YP people allocated to an edge of care 
worker in 2020/21 compared to the previous year, this has increased by 
32%. 

10 Looking more closely at Q3 and Q4 in 2020/21 after the North East 
entered further lockdown restrictions the rates of allocation are similar 
compared to the previous year.  However, what is different is the 
number of YP who remained open to an edge of care worker.  In Q3 
and Q4 of 2019/20 there were 88 YP allocated to an edge of care 
worker, compared to 132 YP in 2020/21. This is an increase of 50%. 
This is a direct result of covid and the complexity of young people at risk 
of becoming looked after. 

                                                                                                               

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Allocations 
2019/20 

Allocations  
2020/21 

April 8 11 

May 5 12 

June 7 12 

July 7 15 

August 4 11 

September 11 13 

October 6 6 

November 15 17 

December 6 4 

January 12 12 

February 5 5 

March 14 14 

Totals 100 132 

Page 74



 

11 When referrals are made for young people to Supporting Solutions, but 
they do not meet the criteria, a consultation is held between the SSS 
Manager and the Safeguarding Social Worker to explore most 
appropriate course of action for the social worker to implement to 
prevent the young person from becoming on the edge of care and 
needing supporting solutions support. During 2020/21, 104 
consultations were held for young people. These consultations are 
recorded as a case note on Liquid Logic. Following consultations these 
young people are not allocated to an Edge of Care worker either 
because: 
 
(a) They were under the age of 11; 

(b) Concerns were predominantly around safeguarding; 

(c) Concerns were predominantly around significant mental health 
needs of the young person; 

(d) Concerns were around parents / carers struggling to cope with 
behaviour of young person in relation to diagnosis of autism; 

(e) Young person was not on the edge of care. 

11 Out of the 104 young people, further referrals were received for 16 of 

these young people. At the point of these referrals, family dynamic / 

need had changed, and edge of care workers were allocated. 

12 Moving forward, further consideration needs to be given to how the 

impact of these consultations is monitored. This has been added to 

Service Development Plan. 

13 Out of the 132 new referrals in 2020/21 16 of these were re-referrals to 

SSS, re-referrals were made for: 

0

5

10

15

20

YP allocated to EoC worker

2019/20 2020/21

Page 75



(a) 2 x to support reunification plans with parents / family members; 

(b) 6 x change in circumstances, therefore further support required; 

(c) 7 x YP and parent / carer experiencing further crisis period and 
additional support needed. 

Individual Young People Journey Mapping (soft outcomes)  

14 All young people as part of their engagement with Supporting Solutions 
are asked to complete the Teen Outcomes Star and parents / carers are 
asked to complete the Family Star Plus. This helps to identify distance 
travelled in terms of young people, parents and carers achieving the 
best possible outcomes.  Outcome stars are also used as motivational 
tools and assist workers in being able to offer targeted support to young 
people and families. 

15 The tables demonstrate that in all areas of the Teen Star and Family 
Star Plus young people, parents / carers felt they had made 
improvements after accessing Supporting Solutions interventions. 

 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Drugs &
Alcohol

Well-being Safety &
Security

Structure &
Education

Behaviour &
Citizenship

Family/adults

Teen Star

Assessment Review Closure

Page 76



 

16 Information is also gathered at the point of referral in relation to other 
issues that may have an impact on the YP or family life, for example, 
Child Exploitation, Domestic Abuse, NEET (not in employment, 
education or training), Substance and Alcohol Misuse. This information 
is collated to gain a better understanding of the issues affecting YP on 
the edge of care but also to observe any patterns that may be emerging. 
In 2020/21 there was a significant increase in the number of YP who 
had a parent or carer experiencing difficulties with their Mental Health. 
This is potentially an impact of COVID restrictions and how people’s 
support networks, access to appointments and general daily lives have 
been affected by the pandemic. 

17 Moving forward this information will be captured throughout the year 
and will be included in each quarterly report.  

Numbers of Young people entering care aged 11 – 17 

18 The table below illustrates the number of young people in County 
Durham aged 11 years and above, and the categories of why they came 
into our care. 

Reporting 
Period 
 

Entered care 
due to family 
breakdown 

Entered care 
due to abuse 
or neglect 

Total number of 
YP aged 11-17 
who entered care 

2019/2020 28 82 110 

2020/2021 24 72 96 

 

19 There has been a reduction of young people aged 11 years and above 
entering care in this reporting year however an increase in young 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Family Star Plus

Assessment Review Closure

Page 77



people entering care as a result of relationship breakdowns.  Again, this 
may be a result of lockdown, young people not attending school, social 
isolation etc.  These numbers now also include 16-17 year old’s who 
have presented as homeless. 

Performance – Family Group Conferencing 

20 The table below illustrates the referrals received and initial FGCs 

completed for April 2020 – March 2021.  

FGC - Performance Activity Annual Target Achieved 

Referrals received 360 316 

Initial FGCs completed 

  

360 270 

 

21  The table above also shows a difference in the number of referrals 

received and FGCs completed.  This is due to: 

(a) Referrals that resulted in no further action;  

(b) Staffing issues across the year including vacancy, long term 
sickness and a member of staff seconded to EDT, this accounts 
for an estimated loss of capacity to complete 49 initial FGCs; 

(c) The FGC staff also been required to take on additional 
responsibilities throughout the year within the Supporting 
Solutions Services which requires time: 

(i) Back up duties as a response to the increase in admissions 
to the Nest; 

(ii) Support with return to home interviews (RTHI) due to an 
increase in missing episodes; 

(iii) Support to Social Work teams re Family Network Meetings 
(FNM). 

22 There have been lessons learnt with a new way of working through 

Covid-19.  From attending the national FGC conference, it was clear 

that we were one of the few FGC services in the country that did not 

stop through the Covid-19 pandemic, we adapted and moved to a 

virtual way of working very quickly to ensure there were no gaps in 

service delivery for the families we work with. We will carry this learning 

forward as a team. 

Page 78



23 Although targets have not been met, this year has been the highest 

amount of initial FGC’s achieved, this is a trend following on from 

previous years, there has been a yearly increase in initial FGCs 

achieved. Moving forward into this year, staff stability, training, 

supervision and clear expectations aim to ensure targets are achieved 

throughout the year.  

24 The tables below show the outcomes following a FGC, where families 
devised their own plan which was agreed by the social worker at the 
time of the conference.  

 

April 2020 – March 2021 Initial FGC - Outcomes for 

families / children 

Number of 

children 

1 Awaiting Outcomes from Assessments and court  

 
 

42 

2 Rehabilitation plan from care of LA to family  

 

20 

3 Remain with Extended Family / private fostering 

arrangement 

35 

4 Remain looked after by Local Authority 

 
 

18 

5 Remained with parents with support from family 

members 

267 

6 Alternative Carers Identified 

 

5 

7 Support plan for young person moving to 

independent living from residential / foster care 

3 

Total 390 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



Q3 Review FGC - Outcomes for children Number of 

Children 

Remained with Parent/carer 97 

Awaiting outcomes form assessment 2 

Remained with extended family – transition plan in 

place for return to parents 

1 

Remained looked after by Local Authority 4 

Rehabilitation from extended family to parents 1 

Remain in the care of extended family  7 

Total 112 

 

Performance – Erase Child Exploitation Service 

25 Referrals received through the Child Exploitation Vulnerability Tracker 

(CEVT) from April 2020- March 2021: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
High 
risk 

Medium 
risk 

Low 
risk 

 
No 
risk 

 
Total 

Child Exploitation (CE) 

referral received 
87 180 100 8 375 

Children / YP reviewed as 

at risk to Child Sexual 

Exploitation (CSE) 

57 130 85  

 

 

272 

Children / YP reviewed as 

at risk to Child Criminal 

Exploitation (CCE) 

30 50 15  
 

95 

Page 80



 

26 All young people who have had their CE risk reviewed through the 

CEVT process have had multiagency agreed next steps suggested as 

actions for the lead worker. All those young people who had been 

reviewed as high risk of CE, have been allocated an Erase CE Worker 

in the aim of exiting or reducing their risk of CE. Those who are high risk 

have also been referred to the multiagency monthly CE Group.  

27 The table below illustrates the outcomes from when a young person is 

reviewed as high risk between April 2020 – March 2021, then allocated 

an Erase CE Worker and the outcomes for where they are now in 

relation to their risk of CE. 

 High risk 
at the 

original 
CEVT 

Reviewed 
as medium 
risk April 

2021 

Reviewed 
as low 

risk April 
2021 

Reviewed 
as high 

risk as of 
April 2021 

YP reviewed as 
at risk to Child 
Sexual 
Exploitation 
(CSE) 

57 16 24 17 

YP reviewed as 
at risk to Child 
Criminal 
Exploitation 
(CCE) 

30 4 13 13 

 
28 The above table illustrates that for those young people who were 

reviewed as high risk of CSE between April 2020 and March 2021, 42% 
of those now have a reduced risk level of low. 28% have a reduced risk 
level of medium and 29% remain high risk. This is a significant 
reduction in risk for the young people.  

0 50 100 150 200

Child Exploitation (CE) referral received

Children / YP reviewed as at risk to Child
Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

Children / YP reviewed as at risk to Child
Criminal Exploitation (CCE)

CE Referral April 2020 - March 2021

Low risk Medium risk High risk

Page 81



29 For those young people who were reviewed as high risk of Child 
Criminal Exploitation (CCE) between April 2020 and March 2021, 43% 
of those now have a reduced risk level of low, 13% have now reduced 
to medium and 43% remain high risk. 

30 This is a significant improvement from March 2020. In March 2020, 
before there was a designated Erase CCE Worker, only 4% of young 
people at risk of CCE reduced from high to medium risk. No young 
people had their risk reduced to low. This evidences the positive impact 
an allocated CCE Worker has for young people in the ability to reduce 
their risk of CCE.  

31 It must be considered that those young people reviewed as high risk of 
CE in Q4 have had a limited amount of intervention since the point of 
being allocated a CE Interventions Worker. 

32 The CE Interventions Workers are now using the Teen Star tool with the 
young people they are working with. This has helped to illustrate the 
wider outcomes for the young people who are receiving support from 
the Erase CE Team: 

33 The graph below illustrates that in all areas of the Teen Star apart from 
Drug and Alcohol, the young people felt they had made improvements 
after accessing support from the Erase CE Team.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

2

4

6

 Drug &
Alcohol

 Wellbeing  Safety Structure &
Education

 Behaviour  Family

Teen Star Outcomes

Initial Review

Page 82



Missing from Home (MFH) and Return to Home Interview (RTHI) 

outcome comparisons 2019/20 vs 2020/21 

34 The below diagrams show MFH activity for 2019/20 and 2020/21: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



35 The below table provides a summary comparison of the MFH activity 
from 2019/20 and 2020/21: information taken from Liquid Logic 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
36 Compared to the same period last year, we have seen a significant 

increase in the number of missing episodes and the number of young 
people who go missing. The introduction of the Missing Co-Ordinator 
has had a significant impact on the proportion of RTHIs offered and 
completed. From the information gathered through the RTHI process, 
young people have reflected and explained that during lockdown it had 
come to point where they were tired of being stuck in the house and 
they just wanted to leave and see their friends. Due to Covid-19 
restrictions, many normal teenage activities became illegal, such as 
meeting friends, leaving the family home unnecessarily etc. this helps to 
account for the significant increase in missing episodes.  

37 During quarter 4, 97% of young people were offered a RTHI. Of those 
who accepted, only 1 interview had not been completed. There has 
been a significant improvement in the amount of young people who 
have accepted and taken part in their RTHI.  This improvement 
highlights the importance of having an independent Missing Co-
ordinator dedicated to completing RTHI for young people in County 
Durham.  
 

38 The Police Child Exploitation Team have fed back that there has been a 
significant improvement in RTHI information quality.  The analysis of 
information has improved, which has allowed us better insight into risks 
YP are exposed to when missing, highlight hot spots and making 
correlations between YP missing at the same time or with the same 
people, where before with different workers completing the RTHIs it 
would not be possible to make these links.  
 

 2019/20 2020/21 % change 

Number of missing episodes  600 1,090* +81% 

Number of individual missing 

young people 
200 406 +102% 

Offered RTHI 
540 

(90%) 

1,071 

(98%) 
+8pp 

Accepted RHI 
454 

(84%) 

916 

(86%) 
+2pp 

Completed RTHI 
422 

(93%) 

909 

(99%) 
+6pp 

Page 84



39 There is a weekly CE Team discussion with the Police regarding who 
we are most worried about that week, this ensures there is effective 
sharing of concerns and identified next steps. We are now recording 
post codes of where the young person went missing from and where 
they were found. We are also recording information regarding school to 
ensure there is a more holistic understanding of the current worries and 
strengths for the young person.  

Development and Adaption during Covid-19  

41 Supporting Solutions has continued to offer services throughout Covid-
19 with some adaptations to ensure families continue to access 
appropriate levels of support. All young people on the edge of care have 
been able to access the same level of crisis support as was available to 
them prior to COVID. 

42 FGCs have continued to give families the opportunity to come together 
and put forward their plan of sustainable family support. We have done 
this by adapting the FGC process to make this a hybrid model using 
face to face and virtual meetings to prepare the family to come together 
for a FGC. All FGC referral meetings with social workers are now 
completed over Teams.  

43 Each member of the FGC team has been linked with a Families First 
Team / Young People’s Services Team to support Social Worker’s in 
gaining confidence in completing Family Network Meetings (FNM). This 
has worked really well, and the impact has been summarised and 
presented to Children’s Social Care and the Early Help Recovery 
Group.  

44 The Nest has remained open during Covid-19 to offer emergency 
accommodation to young people out of hours. 

45 Weekend sessional support has continued for young people where 
without this additional level of support it was believed the living situation 
could be further at risk. 

46 Supporting Solutions have increased their pool of sessional workers, 
this has ensured that there is an additional rota of staff on call to the 
Emergency Duty Team and Supporting Solutions to respond to the 
needs of families experiencing crisis out of hours. 

47 Other teams have also accessed our pool of sessional workers to 
support their own young people, for example, to support placements for 
younger children. 

48 All of Supporting Solutions team members are in the process of 
completing Restorative Mediation training OCN Level 3. This will 

Page 85



support FGC and EoC workers in their roles to help ensure that young 
people remain in the care of their families and strengthen their 
relationships. 

49 Supporting Solutions Edge of Care management team recognised the 
need for specialist intervention to be available in the team for young 
people and families where Domestic Abuse had been a factor in family 
life. It was becoming more apparent that this was emerging as a 
common risk factor for young people on the edge of care, especially in 
terms of child on parent violence and control. 

50 An opportunity arose via additional funds within Durham Children’s 
Services to build on the Edge of Care service.  As a result, we have 
worked closely with Harbour and appointed a full time equivalent 
secondment opportunity for 2 years. The worker is offering support to 
young people where Domestic Abuse is a feature within the family and 
worrying behaviours around child on parent violence or controlling 
behaviour could result in the young person being at risk of entering 
care. 

51 Alongside carrying a case load of young people on the edge of care 
where Domestic Abuse has been a factor the worker is: 

(a) provide learning and awareness raising opportunities for the wider 
edge of care service workers; 

(b) offering case discussions to wider edge of care workers to share 
skills and knowledge in this specialist area. 

52 SSS has been shortlisted in the Children’s Service category for the LGC 
Awards 2021. Given the number of entries from all Local Authorities it is 
an achievement to be shortlisted. Final presentations for the awards 
take place in September and winner is announced in November. 

Conclusion 

53 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will have an oversight and 
understanding of the Supporting Solutions Service, and will be aware of 
the continuous developments within the service to ensure we strive to 
meet the needs of young people, their parent’s and carers.   

Authors 

Lucy Armstrong  Tel:  03000 262278 

Jade Raper   Tel:  03000 262278 

Page 86



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 
We are bound by duties under the Children & Social Work Act / Children’s Act to 
act in the best interests of children and young people.  The report also includes 
number of young people detailed under the Mental Health Act. 

Finance 
None 

Consultation 
None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Of the children and young people the SSS have supported, 2% were transgender 

Climate Change 
None 

Human Rights 
All children and young people are supported to identify suitable alternative care 
arrangements where they cannot continue to remain at home safely. 
Children and young people have access to the DCC complaints process 

Crime and Disorder 
None 

Staffing 
Increased staffing due to the impact of Covid as outlined in paragraphs 5,6 & 7 of 
the report, with funding from COMF 
Supporting Solutions have increased their pool of sessional workers, ensuring there 
is an additional rota of staff on call to the Emergency Duty Team and Supporting 
Solutions to respond to the needs of families experiencing crisis out of hours 

Accommodation 
Should children and young people come into the care of the Local Authority, there 
is a need to ensure there is sufficient suitable placements 

Risk 
The risk of not supporting children and young people, as well as their families and 
carers means that we are increasing the risk of the young people becoming looked 
after, or needing to change placements which could cause disruption to the young 
people. 

Procurement 
None 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

  

 

 

Annual Report of Durham 

County Council Fostering 

Service - 2020/21 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

What is the Durham Fostering Service?  

 

In Durham we pride ourselves on knowing our children and young people well and 

supporting our foster carers to be the best they can.  We understand that it takes a special 

person to be a foster carer and with the right support, encouragement, commitment, and 

passion together we can achieve something great.  Our fostering service is the driving force 

to ensure this happens and that all our foster carers and the children and young people in 

their care benefit from a range of people who are as passionate and committed as they are.  

We are exceptionally proud of our foster carers and the children and young people in their 

care.  Its amazing when we can talk about and show case the great work people do.  Much 

of this can been seen in or heard as part of our radio, news, and social media campaigns.  

 

 

As a fostering service we have responsible for: 

• Making sure we recruitment and assessment of foster carers and connected carers. 

• Ensuring we provide support, supervision, and training to all of our foster carers 

including connected carers and family to family. 

• Ensuring we have enough safe and supportive foster families for the children and young 

people of Durham who are well supported nurtured to help different children and young 

people with a range of different needs, at the time when this is needed the most; 

whether this is a foster family for a short period of time, to help in an emergency right 

through to a ensuring our foster carers can care for and love a child right through to 

adulthood and into their early adult years as part of our staying put offer. 

• Ensuring we help children and young people live in their foster families for as long as 

they need to and provide the help and support when things get tough. 

Page 90



3 
 

In 2020 we set out to achieve some important priorities which would help our current and 

future foster carers as well as the children and young people in their care.  We set out to: 

• To increase the number of Durham County Council Foster Carers. 

• Review the marketing strategy to attract and retain a wider group of fostering 

families who are able to offer a range of fostering options for our children looked 

after. 

• Improve the timeliness and quality of family finding across the service so our 

children and young people can live with their long-term carer sooner. 

• Reduce the number of moves from one foster carer to another for children and 

young people and to ensure when a child or young person did move in with their 

new foster carers we got this as right as we could for all concerned. 

• Improve our recording processes and how we used the data to better understand 

how we are doing as a fostering service and where best to prioritise our work. 

• Review the training and support offer to our foster carers so they have all the 

skills, knowledge, and access to support they need to best meet the needs of the 

children and young people who live within their fostering family. 

• To evidence the good work, we do in ensuring the voice of children and their 

carers informs the service we provide and to make more of the brilliant things our 

fostering families achieve. 

• To ensure our foster care reviews are timely and where there is delay the reason 

for this are understood and resolved at the earliest opportunity.  

 

against the priorities.  

  

And then covid hit …….it is fair to say it 

has been a challenging time for 

everyone and this meant we had to 

very quickly change the way we did 

things to keep everyone safe but also 

to ensure that we continued to support 

our foster carers, the children and 

young people in their care and the 

foster team. The fostering team moved 

to a home working model which meant 

face to face visits and work was 

reduced and the use of virtual visits, 

supervision and sessions were  
 

developed.   Training went virtual or eLearning. And panels were held virtually by Teams.  But 

amongst all of this we made progress.  Great progress and we all achieved some wonderful 

things such as virtual Christmas card competitions, family film nights, supporting our experts by 

experience to deliver training to potential cares, an audience with the corporate parenting 

panel chairs and children in care council and of course we continued to make progress against 

our priorities. 

Page 91



4 
 

Who’s in the Fostering Service? 

All mainstream foster carers and connected carers are supported and supervised by a 

qualified Fostering Social Worker. Their role is to recruit, assess and support foster carers in 

line with their needs and inline with the fostering regulations. During this year we have 

continued to have the following people support this work:  

• All our foster carers. 

• A Strategic Manager who is responsible for working in the service and with others to 

drive the strategic priorities of the wider service and fostering forward. 

• A Service Manager who has day to day responsibility for driving the fostering service 

forward and supporting everyone to get things done. 

• A Recruitment Team who are responsible for working with our colleagues in 

marketing to attract potential foster carers and who are responsible for the 

recruitment, assessment and initial training and support to new foster carers. 

• Two Fostering support teams, who support and work with our foster carers and 

colleagues from across the service to ensure we have a great set of foster carers 

who get what they need from us when they need it.  

• A Connected Carers Team who support the assessment of family and friends who 

are hoping to be carers for the children and young people known to them. This team 

did not exist at the start of 2020, we introduced it to meet demand and ensure our 

mainstream carers continued to get the right level of support they needed and the 

connected carers progressed through their assessments in a timely way.  

• A Placement Team who have the privilege of working on behalf of our children and 

young people to find them the best foster carers and residential homes for them 

when they need to live in their new home for a period of time which is right for 

them. 

• And to help us do all of this we have our fostering friends and colleagues from the 

Children in Care Council, Corporate Parenting Panel, the marketing team the human 

resources team, the training team, the data and performance team, the systems 

team, the Independent Reviewing Officers team and our fostering panel chairs and 

members.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One of our fostering campaigns  

focused on meeting the team…… 

this went out across Facebook but  

also went live across the Department  

of Educations websites as part of  

fostering fortnight.  It was a great hit,  

please take a look at  

https://m.facebook.com/DurhamFosterin

g/posts 

 
Page 92



5 
 

In Durham all our foster carers receive financial support for the hard work they do.  We 

refer to this payment as a Payment for Skills (PFS).  The PFS model has four levels linked to 

skills and competencies and in addition to allowances, weekly fees are paid to foster carers 

who are on Level 2, 3 and 4 of the PSF. All foster carers, irrespective of type of approval i.e. 

long-term carers, emergency carers, respite carers and so on……also receive a weekly child 

age related allowance payment.  This means our foster carers have enough money to 

support and care for their foster children. The PFS model sets out practice requirements, 

expected training and development opportunities at the different levels.   

 

We support our Durham foster carers by running regular support groups which have the 

opportunity for foster carers to hear about new developments across the service, to benefit 

from some additional training or guest speakers and of course share their experience and 

wisdom with others to ensure we all benefit from a what works approach.  The support 

groups have proved very successful, especially when we went virtual, as more carers have 

been able to attend and they have been able to be countywide enabling more foster carers 

to get to know each other and offer support, share ideas and knowledge. The guest 

speakers have been well received and have loved coming along to the support session and 

it’s been great to hear our foster carers making suggestions on future topic’s and asking for 

more information.  Our newly appointed fostering trainer has been a great hit and has 

already started to get the ideas from foster carers off the ground.  His predecessor is a hard 

act to follow but had given him a great start.  

  

The fostering service and the Independent Reviewing Officer Service (the IRO service for 

short) have gone from strength to strength this year, forging a alliance which has ensured 

timely foster carers reviews, training and briefing sessions for the fostering social workers 

and the foster carers on ‘getting the best out of your review’ and some good old auditing 

work to ensure we have a tight grip on improving practice standards across the service.   

Our two dedicated independent reviewing officers for foster carers annual reviews ensures 

that the foster carers have the best support possible and that they continue to meet the 

fostering standards and by having dedicated people our foster carers  feedback that they 

feel supported by a level of consistency.  The IRO’s regularly praises our foster carers for all 

the hard work they do, the training they are offered and their commitment to the children 

they care for. The support offered by the FSW’s is also regularly recognised and praised. The 

innovation and creativity of our foster carers during covid has been noted in everything 

from the creation of boats in the back garden, to pop up classrooms, through to turning 

conservatories into holiday destinations to virtual quiz nights and so on.  And of course, 

everything else they do.   

 

 

 

Page 93



6 
 

What have we done to increase the number of Durham County 

Council Foster Carers? 

The major challenge during 2020-2021 for Durham Fostering Service and nationally for 

others has been the recruitment of new foster carers.  Factors such as covid and a change in 

what people consider as good careers has impacted on the number of enquiries we have 

received over the year, however whilst enquiries have reduced the conversion of enquires 

progressing to applications and approvals have increased from 28% to 62.5%.  This has been 

helped by tightening up our processes, implementing swifter response times, having 

dedicated staff responding in real time and being as helpful as we can from the start.  

Table 1 – Recruitment figures for 2020/21 
 

Initial 

Enquiries 

Expressions 

of Interest 

Initial 

Visits 

Application 

Forms 

Received 

Foster 

Carers 

Approved 

Ongoing 

2019-2020 353 122 68 25 7    10 

2020-2021 278 88 49 24 25     10 

 

We are pleased to say we have continued to complete the Form F assessments within the 

regulation timescale, which is 8 months from someone applying to being assessed and 

presented to panel. A great well done to everyone involved as this is important for our 

foster carers to know we are getting right for them from the very start.  

Sadly in 2020-21, 16 of our mainstream foster families left us.  The reasons for these ranged 

from significant health issues either with respect to themselves or close family, retirement, 

starting a new job which means they cannot continue to care for new foster children the 

way they know they need to be cared for and a small number as a result of Standards of 

Care concerns.  No one left us because they wanted to continue as a foster carer but with 

someone else. 

 

How do we attract and retain a wider group of Fostering Families? 

Due to the restrictions placed on us during the covid period we have had to think quickly 

about the different ways to market and promote the recruitment of foster care.  We met 

with our colleagues in marketing and we focused on enhancing our social media campaigns, 

radio adverts, digital campaigns, Search Engine Optimisation (SEO), virtual events and local 

magazines such as Durham County News and Police Life.  Our team manager in the 

recruitment team has been heavily involved in these campaigns and is now the voice of 

Durham Fostering having now appeared on multiple radio campaigns, the tv as part of look 

north, on the DfE website and much more. We have also seen a great level of support from 

our foster carers and the children and young people who live in fostering families coming 

Page 94



7 
 

forward to be part of the campaigns, they too have been on tv, in the local press, on radio 

and of course all over social media attracting new foster carers.  We have also been 

successful in a recent bid which has meant we have been able to appoint a temporary 

marketing person who will ensure we are maximising all the opportunities we can and being 

at the top of our game when it comes to recruitment a range of carers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We have held regular virtual Q & A sessions and a year-long digital campaign which has 

been well received by those in attendance helping us to ensure we have seen progress in 

the number of people who express an interest and become foster carers. There were still 

periods of increased advertising over key times of the year where targeted campaigns have 

been used to attract carers, for example fostering fortnight. We continued to use real carers 

and real stories in our campaigns and really pushed forward our challenge against the 

stereotyping of foster carers demonstrating our inclusive approach.    Our targeted 

campaigns focussed on foster carers for teenagers, brothers and sisters, children with 

complex needs and long-term fostering families.                                                                                                                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

It has been very important to us that 

we continue to support and value our 

foster carers not only to retain our 

experienced carers but also because 

they deserve the support and 

recognition for all they do.  This of 

course links to ensuring our children 

and young people who live within their 

fostering families help us shape the 

service and what we do.   

 

Page 95



8 
 

We have a number of unique selling points in Durham Fostering Service which includes: 

• A wide range of children requiring foster placements 

• Full Circle and Clinical Psychologist 

• The benefits of being a large Local Authority with all the support this provides 

• A comprehensive personal development package 

• Virtual Support Groups  

• Competitive financial package 

• Fostering Family Retention events 

• M8’s group for carers own children 

• An active Children in Care Council providing training for prospective carers, and 

involvement in recruitment activities, highly valued by prospective carers 

• The involvement of existing foster carers in supporting/ mentoring prospective 

carers 

• Independent Advice and Mediation Service. 

• We place value on supervision, support, and timely foster carers review. 

Retention events in 2020-2021 have had the be virtual but this has not stopped us, in fact it 

made us more determined than ever.  We have had quizzes, competitions, clap for foster 

carers, posted seeds to grow plants with the children and young people, developed what to 

packs, had film nights and Christmas carol nights.   Our colleagues in the virtual school 

funded ‘cool packs’ with loads of cool things inside, which were dropped off to each 

household by our fostering social workers.  

Our foster carers and the children and young people who live in their fostering families have 

been amazing during the pandemic, managing to home school the children and young 

people in their care as well as keep them entertained when they couldn’t go out and mix 

with their friends or have face to face family time with the parents, brothers and sisters and 

extended family. The amazing transformation from face to face family time to virtual family 

time has been great and our carers have really engaged in the digital world to help the 

children and young people in their care keep in touch with their loved ones.  Stories such as 

parents sending a kiss in a cloud to their child and the carer showing the child the cloud 

coming over for them to catch the kiss brings a tear to your eyes when you think about how 

the importance of good relational practice and care is being though about from our amazing 

foster carers. Compliments from careers and the birth families has increased during 2020 

and 2021 showcasing such examples of good and respectful care.  

 

 

 

Page 96



9 
 

How many foster carers do we have?  

As can be seen from the table below, we have more mainstream carers at the end of 2020-

2021 than we did at the beginning.    

Table 2 – Total number of carers at various levels for 2020/21 

Date Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Total Number of 

Carers 

1st April 2019 1 19 224 1 245 

1ST October 

2019 

1 16 223 1 241 

31st March 

2020 

1 23 224 1 249 

 

Over the year the number of all children looked after rose from 902 on 11th March 2020 to 

946 on 25th March 2021.  The table below shows that the  number of children with foster 

carers has dropped over the year and although the number with connected carers did rise in 

the middle of the year that has dropped back to what it was at the start of the year.  The 

number of children with IFA foster carers has risen again over the year although only by 7.  

Our demand on independent fostering families, residential care and supported living has 

increase, somewhat to do with a reduction in foster carers willing to support more children 

in their homes, usually linked to covid and in particular the challenges which periods of lock 

down have brought and due to the increased needs to care for relatives or where their older 

birth children require support or have returned from university.  

 

Table 3 – Number of children in placement type 2020/21 

Date Children in 

In House 

Foster Care 

Children in IFA 

Placements  

Children with 

Connected Carers  

Total Number of 

Children in Foster 

Care  

11th Mar 2020 430 159 136 725 

28th Oct 2020 405 166 156 727 

25th Mar 2020 396 166 137 699 

 

 

 

Page 97



10 
 

As the lock down eases it is envisaged that more of our Durham children and young people 

will be live with our in-house fostering families offering them more stability.  This along with 

increased recruitment will strengthen our range of options, ensuring we help the right child 

/ young person to live with the right foster family for them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How we ensure we help the right child / young person to live with 

the right foster family for them. 

Over the last year there has been a continued focus on family finding and ensuring we help 

our children and young people to live in the right foster family for them. To achieve this, we 

introduced Forever Friday – this is our fortnightly family finding clinic which is lead and 

driven forward by the consultant social workers in the team.  Their mission is to focus and 

drive forward all family finding activity across the fostering service, focusing on finding 

appropriate permanent carers for children and young people in line with their plan for 

permanence without delay. This has resulted in an increased understanding of who we are 

family finding for, exactly what they need and a relentless focus on finding the right carers – 

supporting them and nurturing the relationship.  

We have realigned our recruitment approach to strengthen foster carers thoughts around 

permeance from the onset, making this part of the recruitment campaigns and ensuring all 

new foster carers are assessed and approved at panel for permanence, even if at the 

beginning of their fostering journey their preference is short term placements.  This reduces 

delay if a child or young person bond with their careers and it develops into a long-term 

arrangement.  

Table 4 –Family Finding Activity 2020/21 

Date Ongoing Active family Finding Matching report in progress  

31st May 2020 32 40 

25th March 2021 26 49 

  

Page 98



11 
 

Supporting foster family stability when things get tough 

From 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, 13 young people who lived in with their long term 

foster carers (of which there were 11 fostering house-holds due to some of the children 

living together in one home) needed support as a result of the carers saying they were 

struggling to continue to care for their foster child.  Of the 13, 12 had a pre-disruption 

meeting and disruption meeting and nearly half of all of the children and the foster carers 

benefited from additional support services to try and support the foster carers and the 

children and young people to continue to live together.   Covid and the risks of infection 

were the main reason why four of the fostering families were no longer able to care for 

their foster children, other reasons were attributed to behaviours presented were too 

challenging for the carers at that point in time or they had felt they had to put the needs of 

their birth children ahead of the needs of their foster child. All disruption meetings are 

chaired by an IRO to ensure that patterns and themes are picked up and learning is gained 

from the issues highlighted, ensuring these were fed back into support sessions, 

supervisions and training, alongside what else we can offer as a wider service. In relation to 

our IFA families 9 children had to move from their long-term foster family due to the 

reasons highlighted above.  

During the same period, an additional 22 children and young people who lived in a short 

term or with emergency carers moved to new carers in an unplanned way.  The reasons for 

the unplanned ending were either directly related to Covid or due to bereavement in the 

fostering family. Across the IFA’s where our Durham children live 3 of our young people 

moved on in an unplanned way.  

Learning from this and ensuring strengthened approaches to support our carers is a key 

priority for us going forward and whilst we have continued to make improvement in this 

area until there are no unplanned endings there will always be more to do.   

 

What have we done to improve our data and performance 

information?  

In 2020 – 21, the Systems Team (our tech people) have worked really hard to redesign the  

Fostering module of liquidlogic to make sure we have a effective recording system which 

meets our needs and its great to say we achieved that.  Without stopping we moved straight 

across to developing our dashboard, these tell us in real time what we have done and what 

we need to do.  The dashboards are now live, and we are busy cleansing our data to make 

sure it is right and tells us the right information at the point in time when we need it.  The 

dashboards and data now tell us everything we need to know from the number of children 

living with their foster families, to who’s isolating due to covid, timescales for supervisions, 

Page 99



12 
 

and a whole lot more.  Whilst we always held this information it was not in one place and it 

often took a long time to enter the date correctly and extract it to answer the questions we 

have.  The only dashboard we have left to finalise and run reports from is the connected 

carers dashboard – however this will be achieved in the next reporting period. Our 

performance data is shared with individual fostering social workers as part of their 

supervision and team meetings, we scrutinise the data as part of the monthly performance 

clinic’s both in the fostering service and as part of the wider service and we share the data 

as part of the service briefings with the fostering team, panel members and partners to 

ensure everyone understanding what we are doing well and what we need to concentrate 

on and of course, who needs to do what and by when.  

 

Signs of Safety/Success. 

The Signs of Safety/Success practice model is becoming more established across the 

Fostering Service, we have practice leads in each team who lead and motivate the teams to 

drive forward SofS and all of our staff have been trained.  Our practice leads attend regular 

workshops and then come back to the fostering service to feedback and support their 

colleagues to improve and develop. Reflective supervision and group supervision is now 

embedded in our practice.   

We redesigned our forms and documents using the signs of safety/success language and 

model, including the foster carers supervision documents, foster carer review documents 

and family finding form. Foster carers have received some training and support to ensure 

they understand change in the language, documentation, and approach.  We recognise that 

there is more training needed for our foster carers in relation to Signs of Safety/Success and 

we aim to achieve this by ensuring it runs across the training offer for 2021-2022. 

 

Review of the Training offer to our Foster Carers 

Like all other aspects of the service offered to foster carers, training was impacted upon by 

the pandemic, national lock downs and restrictions.  Foster carers have had to home school 

their children and young people, with partners sometimes working from home too!  

Training reverted to online courses, reading and research, fostering social workers lead 

development workshops (bite sized), webinars including open university sessions, and guest 

speakers attended support groups.  Foster carers also accessed training on a variety of 

websites including Open University.  Experienced foster carers and care experienced young 

people are involved in the Skills to Foster training and we were able via Teams to continue 

to include them.  The feedback from the foster carers who attended this training was 

Page 100



13 
 

amazing and our care experienced / experts by experience also lead training for the police 

service which was equally well received.    

 

We have now appointed a new fostering trainer who is currently reviewing all training and 

ensuring we pick the pace back up now the restrictions are lifted.  Keeping what’s worked 

well and reintroducing the things we could not do that equally worked well. To help make 

this happen we have been successful in winning two bids, one for laptops and an IT trainer 

for foster carers and another bid for a specialist / bespoke training programme for foster 

carers which will be called ‘Strengthening Care’.   

 

Continued Focus on the Voice of the Child and Carers. 

This is something that is central to the whole service and every individual part of the service 

from beginning to end.  To ensure we truly understand what children need and what they 

are wanting to tell us, we ensure we involve them and listen to them every step of the way.  

Our children and young people work with their social workers to write their care plan and 

the foster carers work with them to achieve the goals.  Our children and young people are 

key in sitting alongside us when we recruit, when we train foster carers, when we design 

training such as the strengthening care programme and recruitment training, when they 

feedback and challenge us about the service and what we do or how we do it. An example 

of this is the challenge which was set to ensure we all contributed to raising the profile of 

children in care, as a result of this we now share as part of the corporate parenting 

committee a ‘proud moment’ which is the opportunity for us to show case something great 

our children in care have done.  During covid this was broadcast live from Durham County 

Council as part of the Corporate Parenting Committee.  

 

To ensure all our children and young people have their voices heard, not just those who 

attend or contribute to the Children in Care Council we have supported the roll out of the 

Mind of My Own app.  This enables children to share their views in readiness for their 

Looked After Reviews, Foster Carer Reviews and with their social worker if they have any 

worries or queries about anything at any time.  All of the fostering team attended the 

workshops to understand how to use it and how they can support children and young 

people to use it.  Our foster carers attended briefings and workshops too so they can 

support our children and young people to use it. The feedback from Mind of My Own since 

its launch has been very positive.  

 

 

Page 101



14 
 

We don’t just focus on the voice of the child who is looked after, but we also work with and 

support the birth children of our foster carers. During the training of prospective foster 

carers, a training session is offered specifically to carers sons and daughters which is age 

appropriate. This offers them the opportunity to meet other’s whose parents are 

undergoing the assessment process, to share their views, ask questions and talk about any 

potential concerns.  Foster carers children were very clear about how they feel when a child 

or young person moves on from their home and how they felt they weren’t considered or 

thought about in this process. As a result of this the M8S group was formed which offers 

support as it was designed by them, for them and it is run how they want it to run. We are 

the enablers supporting them to achieve.  

  

And, so what?  

The past year has been very difficult for everyone due to the Covid pandemic which resulted 

in national and local lockdowns, schools closed and then national and regional restrictions. 

This has impacted on children, young people, foster carers and fostering social worker alike 

in a variety of ways, not just physical health from the illness but emotionally from losing 

loved ones and being isolated from family, friends, and colleagues.  Everyone has had to 

quickly learn a new way of working, from working at home, virtual visits, and meetings and 

to virtual family time with issues around confidentiality and managing risk. However, it will 

take more than a global pandemic to stop us……….. Durham Fostering Service has completed 

a lot of positive work and has had positive achievements over the past year which have 

contributed to some great outcomes for many of our children, young people, and their 

foster families and of course their birth families.  In fact, some of our foster families were so 

impressed with how well we had supported them during covid they wrote to their MP to tell 

them about the great job we did as a Council.  

 

We have continued to support our foster carers well, offer them a training package, 

especially when starting on their journey, ensuring the voice of the child is embedded in all 

areas of practice including the voice of the children of our foster carers. We work closely 

with the Children in Care Council and listen and take on board their views and ideas. We 

work closely with our experienced foster carers who share their experience across the 

service and in our recruitment campaigns. We have made progress in embedding Signs of 

Safety/Success and improved our systems and processes, which are the tools we need to 

enable us to continue to improve our service moving forward, we have improved 

supervision, review timescales and family finding.  We have seen less carers leave us, more 

join us, stronger voices and a refocus on the importance of being a foster carer.  Our drive is 

relentless, and we will continue to evolve and grow, not only in our achievements but our 

ambition.  Our priorities for 2021 – 22 are set out in our fostering service plan and I would 

urge you to take a look and please don’t forget to spread the word…..Durham is a fostering 

family ……come and be part of it and tell others about it too.  

Page 102



15 
 

Appendix 1 

 

The Children Act 1989 requires a local authority who are looking after a child, to place that 

child with a foster carer, if it is not possible to arrange for the child to live with a parent or 

family member. The local authority’s duties in relation to the fostering service are set out in 

the Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011; the Fostering Services National Minimum 

Standards and the Statutory Guidance contained in Volume 4 of the Children Act Guidance. 

The Regulatory Framework for the inspection of fostering services by Ofsted is contained in 

the Care Standards Act 2000. 

The work undertaken by the Service is governed by legislation which include: 

• Children Act 1989 

• Children Act 2004 

• Children & young Persons Act 2008 

• Care Standards Act 2000 

• Fostering Services Regulations 2011 

• Fostering Services: National Minimum Standards 2011 

• The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: Fostering 

Services 2011 

• The Children Act Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, 

placement and case Review 2010 & Updated 2013 & Updated 2015. 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Fostering Annual 
Report 2020-21
What have we done to increase the 
number of Durham County Council 

Foster Carers?

• Targeted campaigns

• More personal touch 

• Virtual and face to face

• Reviewed our processes 

• 25 new carers 

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 10a



P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

 24 September 2021 

 Regulation 44 Visits - Update  

 

Report of Lindsey Herring, Project Manager – Children and Young 
People’s Accommodation Sufficiency, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update about the plans in place to deliver 
Regulation 44 visits across all Children’s Homes operated by Durham 
County Council. 

Executive summary 

2 The national Children’s Homes Regulations 2015 (Regulation 44) sets 
out requirements for organisations responsible for the delivery of 
children’s homes to ensure that an independent visitor visits the 
children’s home at least once each month to undertake a rigorous and 
impartial assessment of the home’s arrangements for safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of the children in the home’s care. There is a 
requirement to ensure that the findings and any recommendations from 
the visit are captured within an independent report and forwarded to the 
Local Authority and Ofsted for the area in which the home is located. 

3 Durham County Council is currently the Registered Provider of 14 
Children’s Residential Homes (including 1 overnight respite home and 5 
secure children’s homes). In addition, plans have been approved to 
expand and broaden our maintained children’s home offer, including 
smaller homes and an edge of care residential home, in response to the 
growing demand for residential care and accommodation for children 
with complex needs. 

4 In February 2021, the Corporate Parenting Panel agreed with the plans 
to outsource the Regulation 44 function. An open procurement process 
was carried out over the summer and NYAS (National Youth Advocacy 
Service) was awarded the contract, which commenced on the 1 
September 2021. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 12



5 NYAS understand the importance of including Elected Members, with 
Corporate Parenting responsibilities, in Regulation 44 visits and as 
such, will be linking with Elected Members who are aligned to homes to 
arrange these. 

6 NYAS will share quarterly performance information with the 
Commissioning Service and Operational Team regarding the delivery of 
the service. This information will be shared with the Corporate Parenting 
Panel. A schedule of future reports is set out in point 22 of this report. 

Recommendation 

7 The Corporate Parenting Panel is recommended to: 

(a) Consider the contents of this report. 

 

 

 

  

Page 114



Background 

8 The Children’s Home Regulations 2015 (Regulation 44) require all 
providers of Children’s Residential Homes, to secure monthly visit (as a 
minimum) by an independent Person to undertake a rigorous and 
impartial assessment of the home’s arrangements for safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of the children in the home’s care. 

9 Following each of the monthly visit, the Independent Person must 
produce a report which set out, in particular the Independent Person’s 
opinion as to whether: 

(a) Children are effectively safeguarded; and 

(b) The conduct of the home promotes the children’s well-being 

10 In February 2021, we shared a report with the Corporate Parenting 
Panel outlining the benefits of outsourcing this function, which at the 
time was being delivered by Durham County Council’s Children’s 
Commissioning Team.  

New Regulation 44 Service 

11 Following an open and transparent procurement process, the 
Regulation 44 contract has been awarded to NYAS (National Youth 
Advocacy Service). 

12 NYAS are an experienced provider of Regulation 44 visits to children’s 
homes, providing this service for a range of Local Authority’s and 
private sector providers.  

13 The contract will operate for 1 year, from the 1 September 2021, with 3 
x 12-month options to extend subject to contract performance and the 
outcome of the annual review. 

14 A meeting has taken place with the Provider to discuss the scope of the 
contract, our expectations, performance reporting and to agree a 
forward plan of meetings to review the service.  

15 Regulation 44 Officers have been identified for all 9-current community- 
based homes operated by Durham County Council. As and when new 
homes are developed, NYAS will pick up the responsibility for the 
Regulation 44 visit. 

16 NYAS will not carry out Regulation 44 visits for our Secure Children’s 
Home. This responsibility will continue to remain with the Children’s 
Commissioning Team and will be reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

 

Page 115



Elected Member Involvement 

17 All Durham County Council homes have an identified Elected Member, 
who will be part of four visits over the period of a year (attending one 
visit every 3 months). 

18 Children and Young People’s Services will be delivering Regulation 44 
training for Elected Members involved in visits and will share details in 
future meetings. It is important that training is refreshed on an ongoing 
basis and members who haven’t previously been involved in Regulation 
44 visits have an opportunity to access this. 

19 NYAS have been provided with the email addresses for those Elected 
Members who have agreed to be part of Regulation 44 visits and will 
contact members individually to arrange visits. 

20 When the report has been compiled and signed by the Registered 
Manager and the Independent Person, NYAS will share the report with 
the Elected Member aligned to the home. 

Reporting into the Corporate Parenting Panel 

21 NYAS will complete a quarterly performance report providing high-level 
key performance indicators and thematic information. 

22 Performance reports will be shared with Commissioning and the 
Operational Team in the first instance. These will then be subsequently 
shared with the Corporate Parenting Panel the following month. The 
table below sets out the schedule of future reports: 

Table 1 – Regulation 44 reporting schedule into Corporate Parenting 
Panel 

Period Covered Report to DCC Meeting with 
Provider 

Report to CPP 

1/9/2021 – 
31/12/2021 

21/1/2022 26/1/2022 February 
Meeting 

1/1/2022 – 
31/3/2022 

22/4/2022 28/4/2022 May Meeting 

1/4/2022 – 
30/6/2022 

22/7/2022 29/7/2022 August Meeting 

 

 

Page 116



Conclusion 

23 Over the coming year, we will continue to meet with NYAS to review the 
findings, recommendations and themes that are identified in Regulation 
44 visits.  

24 This information will help us to continually review and make 
improvements to our residential care provision which will benefit 
children and young people. 

 

Author 

Lindsey Herring    Tel:  03000 265766 

  

Page 117



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The national Children’s Homes Regulations 2015 (Regulation 44) sets out 

statutory requirements for organisations responsible for the delivery of 

children’s homes to ensure that an independent visitor visits the children’s 

home at least once each month to undertake a rigorous and impartial 

assessment of the home’s arrangements for safeguarding and promoting the 

welfare of the children in the home’s care. There is a requirement to ensure 

that the findings and any recommendations from the visit are captured within 

an independent report and forwarded to the local authority and Ofsted for the 

area in which the home is located.   

Finance 

A revenue budget of £38,050 was identified prior to commissioning the 

Regulation 44 service.  

The contract has been awarded in line with the available budget. 

Consultation 

N/A 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Considerations relating to the provision of Regulation 44 visits will need to 

ensure that new arrangements address the vulnerabilities associated with 

children with a disability, ill health or developmental difficulties – including 

mental ill health and SEND; children who are vulnerable or of concern by 

virtue of their identity or nationality or children who care for others. 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

NYAS staff delivering the Regulation 44 service do not have any TUPE rights. 

This has been set out in the contract documentation. 

Page 118



Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

A range of risks have been outlined below and their mitigating action: 

The transition to a new provider – transition arrangements have been 

discussed with the Commissioning Service (current provider) and the new 

provider, NYAS. The provider has been able to mobilise the service quickly 

and timescales for visits and producing the report have been discussed and 

agreed. 

Contract Failure – the provider has substantial experience and a good track 

record in the delivery of Regulation 44 services. Expectations have been 

discussed in the Contract Inception Meeting and regular meetings will take 

place with the provider to review the service and to discuss the findings from 

visits. Should there be any concerns raised about the delivery of the service, 

DCC will work with the provider to produce an improvement plan. DCC are 

able to terminate the contract within a 3 month period, giving sufficient time to 

consider alternative delivery options and re-procure the service. 

Procurement 

The Regulation 44 service has been procured in line with Corporate 

Procurement Regulations.  

An open tender process was followed enabling multiple providers to tender. 

The contract has been formally awarded. 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 125

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2021
	6 Ofsted focused visit to Children's Services - Update from Head of Children's Social Care
	7 ADCS North East Submission to the Independent Review of Children's Social Care (for information)
	Structure Bookmarks

	8 Investing in Children / Children in Care Council Update - Presentation by Project Officer, Investing in Children
	8a Presentation
	9 Annual Performance Report - Supporting Solutions - Report of Strategic Manager, First Contact & Specialist Countywide Service
	10 Fostering Service Annual Report 2020-21 - Report and Presentation by Strategic Manager Resources
	10a Presentation
	12 Regulation 44 Visits Update - Report of Project Manager, Children and Young People's Accommodation Sufficiency
	15 Regulation 44 Visits and Regulatory Body ratings of Children's Residential Homes - Report of Head of Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children
	Item 15 Part B




